**REGULATION OF TYROSINE HYDROXYLASE EXPRESSION BY HYPOXIA** 

# REGULATION OF TYROSINE HYDROXYLASE EXPRESSION BY HYPOXIA: STUDY OF O<sub>2</sub>-SENSITIVE RAT ADRENAL CHROMAFFIN MAH CELL LINE

By

JINGJING LIU, B.Sc.

A Thesis

Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies

in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree

**Master of Science** 

**McMaster University** 

© Copyright by Jingjing Liu, October 2005

## **MASTER OF SCIENCE (2005)**

**McMaster University** 

(Biology)

Hamilton, Ontario

TITLE:Regulation of Tyrosine Hydroxylase Expression by Hypoxia:Study of O2-Sensitive Rat Adrenal Chromaffin MAH Cell Line

AUTHOR: Jingjing Liu, B.Sc. (Lanzhou University) SUPERVISOR: Dr. Colin A. Nurse NUMBER OF PAGES: ix, 103

## ABSTRACT

Reduced oxygen tension (i.e. hypoxia) regulates gene expression in various chromaffin cell types that synthesize catecholamines. In this study, the effect of chronic hypoxia on tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) mRNA and protein expression was investigated in the adrenomedullary chromaffin MAH cell line. RT-PCR results indicated that TH mRNA was expressed in MAH cells both during normoxia (20%  $O_2$ ) and hypoxia (5%  $O_2$ ). However, TH mRNA expression during chronic hypoxia was significantly higher than that during normoxia, increasing by approximately 2fold after 16 hour exposure to chronic hypoxia. Western Blot analysis of the regulation of TH gene expression by chronic hypoxia indicated that TH protein initially decreased during 10 hr exposure to hypoxia and this was followed by a rapid increase in expression over the next 10 hr, and then by a slower increase (up to 1.3x initial control) after 72 hr exposure. Therefore, TH mRNA and protein levels were changed in MAH cells by hypoxia in a time-dependent manner. Surprisingly, cobalt treatment of MAH cells, expected to mimic the effects of chronic hypoxia, had little effect on TH gene expression. Interestingly, the decrease in TH expression protein after 10 hr exposure to hypoxia was prevented by nifedipine, an L-type calcium channel blocker. These results suggest that MAH cells represent a useful model system for examining hypoxia-induced gene regulation in an O<sub>2</sub>-sensitive cell line. Additionally, preliminary studies on HIF-1a expression in MAH cells showed that HIF-1a mRNA was expressed and remained stable under both hypoxic and normoxic conditions.

## **KEYWORDS:**

Adrenomedullary Chromaffin Cells (AMCs), MAH cells, tyrosine hydroxylase (TH), HIF-1α, oxygen sensitive, hypoxia, L-type calcium channels, gene regulation, RT-PCR, Western blotting.

## **ABBREVIATIONS:**

MAH, v-myc, adrenal derived <u>H</u>NK1<sup>+</sup>
AMCs, Adrenomedullary Chromaffin Cells
TH, Tyrosine Hydroxylase
HIF-1α, Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1 Alpha
PC12, Pheochromocytoma
CB, Carotid Body
EPO, Erythropoietin
HRE, Hypoxia Responsive Element
bHLH-PAS, Heterodimeric Basic Helix-Loop-Helix-Per/ARNT/SIM
pVHL, von Hippel-Lindau Tumor Suppressor Protein
RT-PCR, Reverse Transcription Polymerase Chain Reaction

## **ACKNOWLEGEMENTS**

I am very grateful to my parents' and my husband's strong support for my study and work in McMaster University. Without their emotional, intellectual and living assistances, I would not have enough strength and courage to stay and study so smoothly here.

I would sincerely like to thank my admirable supervisor, Dr. Colin A. Nurse, for his endless and careful guidance, inspiration and suggestion in scientific realm and for his patience and support in my hard time. I would like to thank my thesis committee member Dr. Juliet Daniel and former advisor Dr. Ita O'Kelly for their helpful advice and comments on my experiments.

I would like to thank Cathy Vollmer and Dr. Min Zhang for their great help and detailed suggestion in the lab, to all members of the lab: Dr. Veronica Campanucci, Dr. Michael Jonz, Josef Buttigieg and Michael Lowe for their excellent advice and all the good time, especially to Stephen Brown for his kindly big help for my thesis. I would also like to express my thanks to Dr. Juliet Daniel's and Dr. André Bédard's labs for frequent use of equipments for my experiments.

I should also like to thank my daughter, who brings me ever so much happiness and laughter every moment after my daily busy study. Last, many gracious thanks to all my friends for just being around, being yourselves.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

## CHAPTER 1: GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1

A POTENTIAL MODEL SYSTEM FOR EXAMINING THE MECHANISMS OF OXYGEN SENSITIVITY

| O <sub>2</sub> -sensitivity of Adrenomedullary Chromaffin Cells (AMCs) | 7  |  |
|--|----|--|
| Immortalized Adrenal Chromaffin MAH Cells                              | 8  |  |
| IMPORTANT OXYGEN DEPENDENT TRANSCRIPTIONAL FACTOR                      | 10 |  |
| Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1 (HIF-1)                                     |    |  |
| RATE-LIMITING ENZYME IN THE BIOSYNTHESIS OF CATECHOLAMINES             | 14 |  |
| Tyrosine Hydroxylase (TH)  |    |  |
| MOLECULAR TECHNIQUES INVOLVED IN THIS STUDY                            |    |  |
| PCR  | 17 |  |
| RT-PCR   | 19 |  |
| Western Blotting   | 20 |  |
| ORGANIZATION OF THESIS   | 22 |  |
|  |    |  |

## CHAPTER 2: REGULATION OF TYROSINE HYDROXYLASE GENE EXPRESSION IN MAH CELLS BY CHRONIC HYPOXIA

|  | 23        |
|--|-----------|
| SUMMARY  | 23        |
| INTRODUCTION   | 24        |
| Methods  | 25        |
| 1. Materials   | 25        |
| 2. Cell culture  | 26        |
| 3. TH mRNA expression analysis                                   | 27        |
| 3.1 RT-PCR   | 27        |
| 3.2 Densitometry and statistical analysis                        | 30        |
| 4. Time course study of TH protein expression                    | 30        |
| 4.1 Sample preparation   | 30        |
| 4.2 Protein concentration test                                   | 31        |
| 4.3 Semi-quantitative western blotting                           | 32        |
| 5. Effects of cobalt and nifedipine on TH expression             | 33        |
| 5.1 Sample preparation   | 33        |
| 5.2 Protein concentration test                                   | 33        |
| 5.3 Semi-quantitative western blotting                           | 34        |
| 5.4. Densitometry and statistical analysis on TH protein         | 34        |
| RESULTS  | 35        |
| 1. RT-PCR detection of mRNA for TH and $\beta$ -actin in MAH cel | ls under  |
| normoxia   | 35        |
| 2. Semi-quantitative analysis of TH mRNA expression during norm  | noxia vs. |
| chronic hypoxia  | 35        |

|                 | 3. Tim           | e course study of TH protein expression                      | 40                   |
|-----------------|------------------|--|----------------------|
|                 |                  | 3.1 Determination of concentrations of protein               | 40                   |
|                 |                  | 3.2 Time course analysis of the effect of oxygen tension     | on on TH             |
|                 |                  | protein expression   | 40                   |
|                 | 4. Effe          | ects of cobalt in MAH cells                                  | 45                   |
|                 |                  | 4.1 Determination of protein concentrations of homogenat     | es                   |
|                 |                  |  | 45                   |
|                 |                  | 4.2 Effect of cobalt on TH protein expression                | 45                   |
|                 | 5. Eff           | ects of nifedipine on expression of TH protein during        | g chronic            |
|                 | hy               | poxia  | 50                   |
|                 |                  | 5.1 Determination of protein concentrations of homogenat     | es                   |
|                 |                  |  | 50                   |
| -               |                  | 5.2 Effect of nifedipine on TH protein expression            | 50                   |
| DISCUS          | SION             |  | 55                   |
| OPDED           |                  |  | 50                   |
| GERER           | AL CU            | INCLUSION  | 59                   |
| DEFED           |                  | n  | (1                   |
| REFERE          | INCE             | 5  | 61                   |
| APPEND          | DIX I:           | HIF-1a mRNA Gene Expression in MAH cells                     | 84                   |
| STRAM           | DV               |  | 01                   |
| JUMMA<br>INTROD |                  | NI .   | 04<br>Q/             |
| METUO           |                  | N  | 0 <del>1</del><br>85 |
| IVIETHO         | Do<br>1 Mat      | erials   | 85                   |
|                 |                  |  | 85                   |
|                 | 2. CCII<br>3 RT_ | PCR for HIE-1g mRNA expression analysis                      | 85                   |
| •               | J. KI-           | stern blot for HIF-1a protein expression analysis            | antitative           |
|                 | west             | ern blotting   | 87                   |
| RESULT          | 75077<br>27      | un olotang   | 87                   |
| RESOLUT         | 1 Exn            | ression of HIF-1a mRNA both in normoxia and hypoxia          | in MAH               |
|                 | cells            |  | 87                   |
|                 | 2. Wes           | stern blotting analysis for HIF-1a protein expression during | hypoxia              |
|                 |                  |  | 90                   |
| APPEND          | DIX II           |  | 91                   |
| I. Buffe        | rs and           | solutions used in this study                                 | 91                   |
| II. West        | tern blo         | otting protocol  | 92                   |
| APPEND          | DIX II           | ſ  | 95                   |
| I Deter         | minati           | on of protein concentrations of homogenates for time cou     | rse studv            |

I. Determination of protein concentrations of homogenates for time course study of TH protein expression 95 II. Determination of protein concentrations of homogenates for study of effect of cobalt and nifedipine in TH expression 95

## LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES

## **CHAPTER 1**

Figure 1.1: Regulation of HIF-1 by cellular O<sub>2</sub> concentration. 13

Figure 1.2: Tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) is a rate-limiting enzyme of biosynthesis of catecholamine. 16

#### **CHAPTER 2**

| Figure 2.1 Detection of mRNAs encoding TH and $\beta$ -actin in MAH cells. | 37   |
|--|------|
| Figure 2.2 Semi-quantitative analysis of TH mRNA expression regulated      | by   |
| hypoxia.   | 39   |
| Figure 2.3 Western blotting of MAH cells homogenates using monoclonal      | anti |

- AH cells homogenates using monocional a TH antibody 42
- Figure 2.4 Time-dependent changes in TH protein expression for exposure of 44 MAH cells to chronic hypoxia.
- Figure 2.5 Western blot analysis of TH in MAH cells treated with cobalt under normoxic environment. 47
- Figure 2.6 Effect of cobalt on TH protein expression in MAH cells. 49
- Figure 2.7 Western blot analysis of TH in MAH cells treated with nifedipine.
- Figure 2.8 Effects of nifedipine on expression of TH protein in MAH cells during chronic hypoxia. 54

52

## **APPENDIX I**

Figure I.1 Expression of HIF-1a mRNA during normoxia and hypoxia in MAH 89 cells.

## **APPENDIX III**

Figure III. 1 BSA standard curve for time course study of TH protein expression.

96

Figure III. 2 BSA standard curve for study of effect of cobalt and nifedipine in TH expression. 99

## LIST OF TABLES

## **CHAPTER 2**

Table 2.1 List of Primers sequences of Tyrosine Hydroxylase and  $\beta$ -actin 29

## **APPENDIX I**

Table I.1 List of Primers sequences of hypoxia-inducible factor-1 $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ -actin 86

## APPENDIX III

| Table III.1 Seven-group samples tested for concentrations of protein             | for time |  |  |
|--|----------|--|--|
| course study of TH protein expression.   | 98       |  |  |
| Table III. 2 Determination of protein concentrations of homogenates for study of |          |  |  |
| effect of cobalt in TH expression.   | 101      |  |  |
| Table III. 3 Determination of protein concentrations of homogenates              | from MAH |  |  |
| cells treated with nifedipine.   | 103      |  |  |

M.Sc. Thesis- J. Liu McMaster- Biology

## **CHAPTER 1**

#### **GENERAL INTRODUCTION**

Oxygen sensing is very important for cell survival and is a fundamental biological process for adaptation to environmental changes. Cellular responses to hypoxia can be acute (short term; over a time course of seconds to a few minutes) or chronic (long term; with time course of seconds to days). In specialized O<sub>2</sub>-sensing cells, acute hypoxia regulates O<sub>2</sub>-sensitive ion channels, which mediate adaptive responses such as modulation of cell excitability and secretory activity (Lopez-Barneo *et al.* 2001). On the other hand, chronic hypoxia causes changes in expression of numerous genes encoding enzymes, transporters and growth factors modulated by hypoxia-inducible transcription factors (HIFs) (Ratcliffe *et al.* 1998; Lopez-Barneo *et al.* 2001; Semenza, 2001).

Oxygen homeostasis is strictly controlled and this control occurs at the level of the entire organism as well as at the level of a single cell. Low tension of oxygen is primarily sensed by the peripheral arterial chemoreceptors that trigger the cardiorespiratory responses (Daly *et al.* 1983; Olson *et al.* 1988). Though all mammalian cells can sense oxygen changes,  $O_2$  uptake by the whole organism is regulated by the carotid body (CB), which is a small arterial chemoreceptor organ containing cells that sense the oxygen and carbon dioxide levels in blood to

maintain blood chemical composition via control of breathing (Eyzaguirre & Zapata, 1984). In the carotid body, hypoxia causes the suppression of outward K<sup>+</sup> current (Lopez-Barneo *et al.* 1988; Peers, 1990), membrane depolarization (Buckler & Vaughan-Jones, 1994), influx of extracellular calcium, leading to an enhancement of neurotransmitter (e.g. catecholamine) release (Buckler & Vaughan-Jones, 1994; Gonzalez *et al.* 1994). The type of oxygen-sensitive K<sup>+</sup> channels differs among the various chemoreceptor cells or among similar cells from different species (Buckler, 1997; Hatton *et al.* 1997; Prabhakar, 2000; Lopez-Barneo *et al.* 2001). In general, hypoxia can modulate differentially various types of K<sup>+</sup> channels causing either membrane depolarization or hyperpolarization depending on cell type (Haddad & Jiang, 1997).

The mechanisms of adaptation to chronic hypoxia at the whole organism level have been studied for many years. However, these responses are complex and the mechanisms by which cells respond to long-term exposure to low oxygen tension are still poorly understood (Czyzyk-Krzeska, 1997). Basically, at the cellular level, decreased oxygen tension leads to the activation of alternative metabolic pathways that need low or no oxygen molecules. Further adaptations at the tissue and systemic levels lead to the increase in O<sub>2</sub> delivery including induction of erythropoiesis, angiogenesis, and hyperventilation (Blancher *et al.* 1998).

During the past 15 years, much effort has been devoted towards understanding the cellular and molecular mechanisms involved in oxygen sensing. The selection of appropriate cell lines as model systems has played an important role in these events. Significant contributions to the molecular mechanism of the O<sub>2</sub>-sensing have been made in several chemosensitive tissues or cell types, which help elucidate the differential sensitivity to hypoxia of the various cell types. Carotid body type I cell was first used to study the regulation of ion channels by acute hypoxia, where  $K^+$  channels were inhibited by hypoxia (Lopez-Barneo *et al.* 1988). When the carotid body is exposed to chronic hypoxia, there is an upregulation of mRNA encoding tyrosine hydroxylase (TH), the rate-limiting enzyme in the biosynthesis of dopamine that is one of the main neurotransmitters in type I cells (Czyzyk-Krzeska, 1997). However, studies on the mechanisms involved in the hypoxic regulation of gene expression in carotid body were hampered by the small size of the organ and corresponding low number of chemoreceptor cells. To address the problem of the low abundance of these cells in intact tissues, clonal cell lines that respond to hypoxia similar to specialized oxygen-sensing cells in vivo have been established as model systems. Among these, the Hep3B and HepG2 cell lines derived from liver tumor have been used to study the molecular mechanisms of erythropoietin (EPO) gene regulation by oxygen tension (Goldberg et al. 1987).

In the context of this thesis, it is noteworthy that a highly oxygen-sensitive pheochromocytoma (PC12) clonal cell line that is derived from rat adrenal tissue has been investigated widely. It is the neoplastic counterpart of adrenal chromaffin cells (Green & Tischler, 1987) that are excitable endocrine cells and used frequently in studies of neuronal differentiation and molecular mechanisms of secretion. There have been a growing number of reports on the PC12 cell line as a

model system for studying O<sub>2</sub> chemoreception at cellular and molecular level (Zhu *et al.* 1996; Conforti & Millhorn, 1997). Since this cell line can be passaged to produce large numbers of cells, it has proved useful in studies on O<sub>2</sub> dependent regulation of gene expression. PC12 cells are similar to carotid body type I cells with respect to embryonic origin (neural crest) and their catecholaminergic properties (Green & Tischler, 1987). Both carotid body type I cells and PC12 cells depolarize rapidly during hypoxia via inhibition of O<sub>2</sub>-sensitive K<sup>+</sup> channels (Conforti and Millhorn, 1997; Delpiano and Hescheler, 1989, Zhu & Bunn, 1999). However, PC 12 cells do not express the same O<sub>2</sub>-sensitive K<sup>+</sup> channels as carotid body type I cells (Lopez-Barneo *et al.* 2001). On the other hand, carotid body type I cells and PC12 cells have similar long-term responses to hypoxia (within hours,) including induction of tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) (Czyzyk-Krzeska, 1992; 1994).

Obviously, PC12 cells have played a significant role in replacing primary cell culture from tissues and have already been developed as a representative model system to examine the molecular and cellular basis of oxygen chemosensitivity and the mechanisms by which O<sub>2</sub>-responsive genes are regulated by hypoxia. However, some researchers have reported heterogeneous characteristics among different batches of PC12 cell lines while studying oxygen sensitive K<sup>+</sup> channels (Green *et al.* 2001). These limitations emphasize the need to search for other suitable cell lines as model systems for studying the molecular mechanisms of oxygen sensitivity.

Hypoxic responses can be mimicked by particular transition metals including cobalt (Porwol et al. 1998), which trigger transcriptional changes

4

including up-regulation of the HIF-1 $\alpha$ . These metals may also up-regulate erythropoietin, which is a typical protein induced by hypoxia that is dependent on signal transduction by HIF-1 (Jiang et al., 1996; 1997). There is recent evidence that cobalt ( $Co^{2+}$ ) may inhibit the interaction between HIF- $\alpha$  and yon Hippel-Lindau protein (p-VHL) by direct binding to HIF- $\alpha$  (Yuan et al. 2003), thus leading to transcriptional changes such as TH induction. Additionally, Co<sup>2+</sup> may produce oxygen-derived free radicals leading to oxidative stress damage (Llesuy & Tomaro, 1994) and functions as a co-factor in enzyme-catalysed reactions involved in the production of erythropoietin (Christova et al. 2002). Human hepatoma cell lines such as Hep3B cells or HepG2 (Goldburg, 1987) cells have frequently been used for studying the expression of erythropoietin or the molecular identity of the oxygen sensor. In these models, it was found that the oxygen sensor is probably a heme protein, but it does not turn over rapidly, suggesting that cobalt is unlikely to act by substituting for heme iron (Horiguchi & Bunn, 2000), as suggested by other investigators (Ho & Bunn, 1996).

In this thesis, one of the objectives was to determine whether cobalt mimics the effect of hypoxia in regulating TH expression in MAH cells. I examined the effect of cobalt on TH expression under normoxic conditions using the Western Blotting technique. Finally, I also examined the potential role of  $Ca^{2+}$  entry in the regulation of TH gene expression by hypoxia in MAH cells.

## Role of Ca<sup>2+</sup> Channels in Hypoxic Response

Voltage-sensitive calcium channels mediate the entry of calcium ions into excitable cells. In carotid body type I cells, hypoxia inhibits  $K^+$  channels, leading to membrane depolarization, voltage-dependent Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry, and release of neurotransmitters (Gonzalez *et al.* 1994; Lopez-Barneo *et al.* 2001; Prabhakar, 2000). Moreover, during the neonatal period, hypoxia induces calcium influx and catecholamine (CA) release in rat and mouse adrenomedullary chromaffin cells (AMCs) via modulation of K<sup>+</sup> channels (Thompson *et al.* 1997; Mochizuki-Oda *et al.* 1997, Thompson & Nurse, 1998; Thompson *et al.* 2002).

The activation of  $Ca^{2+}$  channels can occur via changes in K<sup>+</sup> channel activity.  $Ca^{2+}$  sensitive signaling cascades are involved in a set of calcium-dependent processes, including neurotransmitter release, gene expression, enzyme activity, cell growth and apoptosis (Bootman *et al.* 2001). Indeed, an increase in intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  ([ $Ca^{2+}$ ]<sub>i</sub>) level induced by the influx of  $Ca^{2+}$  via L-type voltage-sensitive  $Ca^{2+}$ channels was detected during exposure of rat adrenal chromaffin cells to hypoxia (Takeuchi *et al.* 2001). Additionally, it has been shown that intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  levels increase in carotid body type I cells (Perez-Garcia *et al.* 1991) and PC12 cells (Sterni *et al.* 1995) following exposure to reduced oxygen tension. These data raise the possibility that  $Ca^{2+}$ -entry into chromaffin-derived MAH cells may also occur during exposure to chronic hypoxia.

Nifedipine is a channel blocker that inhibits  $Ca^{2+}$  entry through L-type calcium channels and it has been shown to reduce substantially hypoxia-evoked

catecholamine (CA) secretion from neonatal adrenal chromaffin cells (Thompson *et al.* 1997). Additionally, in PC 12 cells, nifedipine inhibited 50% of increase in intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$ , but only 20% of the hypoxia-induced increase of TH gene expression (Raymond and Millhorn, 1997). These data suggest that hypoxia regulated TH gene expression by a  $Ca^{2+}$ -dependent mechanism, partially but not exclusively through the L-type calcium channels. In the present study, the effect of nifedipine on expression of TH protein in MAH cells during chronic hypoxia was investigated.

#### O<sub>2</sub>-sensitivity of Adrenomedullary Chromaffin Cells (AMCs)

The adrenal medulla comprises mainly hormone-producing chromaffin cells and is the main site of the conversion of tyrosine into the catecholamines (CA), adrenaline and noradrenaline. Medullary cells are derived from the embryonic neural crest. In response to stressors, adrenomedullary chromaffin (AMC) cells play a critical role in animals and humans by releasing CA into the blood that mediate the fight-orflight response. Interestingly, neonatal AMC cells possess direct oxygen-sensing mechanisms similar to their neural crest counterparts in the carotid body, (Seidler & Slotkin, 1985; Thompson *et al.* 1997; Thompson *et al.* 2002). The release of CA from the adrenal medulla plays an essential role in modulation of cardiovascular, respiratory and metabolic response to hypoxia (Lagercantz & Slotkin, 1986; Slotkin & Seidler, 1988), and this is especially critical for the survival of the neonate during hypoxic stress (Seidler & Slotkin, 1985). Rat AMC cells possess a developmentally regulated oxygen-sensing mechanism, which is present in neonatal (postnatal (P) day 1-P3) but not juvenile (P13-P21) animals. Neonatal AMCs present oxygen chemoreceptive properties including suppression of a voltage-dependent outward  $K^+$  current, membrane depolarization and catecholamine release during acute hypoxia, responses similar to oxygen-sensing properties of carotid body type I cells (Thompson *et al.* 1997; Lopez-Barneo, 1996; Keating *et al.* 2001). Interestingly, this direct O<sub>2</sub>-sensing mechanism in AMC is lost during postnatal development as these cells become innervated (Seidler & Slotkin, 1985; Slotkin & Seidler, 1988; Thompson *et al.* 1997; Nurse *et al.* 2003).

As discussed in the next section and central to this thesis, the availability of an immortalized adrenal chromaffin cell line derived from the embryonic rat has permitted novel investigations into  $O_2$ -sensing mechanisms by AMC.

#### **Immortalized Adrenal Chromaffin Cells (MAH)**

In 1990, Birren and Anderson used a retrovirus containing v-myc oncogene to immortalize rat progenitor cells in the neural crest-derived embryonic adrenal medulla. They obtained a v-myc, adrenal derived  $\underline{H}NK1^+$  (MAH) rat adrenomedullary chromaffin (AMC) cell line that shared many properties of their normal embryonic counterpart (Birren & Anderson, 1990). Since MAH cells were derived from rat adrenal medulla, whose oxygen chemoreceptive properties are present in neonatal but not juvenile stages (Thompson *et al.*, 1997), MAH cells would appear an interesting cell line to test for the oxygen sensitivity at the

molecular level and to determine whether they could substitute for primary AMC cells.

Recently, this immortalized rat adrenal chromaffin MAH cell line was introduced in our laboratory as an attractive model system for examining the effects of hypoxia on chromaffin cells (Fearon et al. 2002). Discovery of O<sub>2</sub>-sensitive K<sup>+</sup> channels with characteristics similar to those of isolated neonatal adrenal chromaffin cells, makes the MAH cell line an excellent model for examining the cellular mechanisms of oxygen sensing in adrenomedullary chromaffin cells (Fearon et al. 2002). Importantly, similar to neonatal AMC, MAH cells were found to express the  $O_2$ -sensitive large conductance  $Ca^{2+}$ -dependent K<sup>+</sup> or BK channel, which is not expressed in another chromaffin cell line, PC12 (Fearon et al. 2002). It was reported that MAH cells express high level of TH mRNA and low levels of choline acetyltransferase (ChAT, an enzyme that breaks down the neurotransmitter acetylcholine into choline and acetic acid during transmission of a nerve impulse) and tryptophan hydroxylase (TpH, the rate limiting biosynthetic enzyme in the serotonin pathway regulating levels of serotonin) mRNA, which suggested that the ability of the progenitor cells to transcribe different neurotransmitter enzyme genes early in development (Vandenbergh et al. 1991). In this study, I used the MAH cell line as a surrogate model for testing the effects of chronic hypoxia on gene expression in chromaffin cells.

#### Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1 (HIF-1)

Adaptation to hypoxia results in the induction of the expression of a number of genes (Helfman & Falanga 1993), which can be divided into three classes (Shih & Claffey 1998): 1. Intracellular factors: e.g. transcription factors including hypoxia inducible factor 1 (HIF-1) (Wang *et al.* 1995a) and activator protein 1 (AP-1); 2. The factors acting locally for the survival of tissues: e.g. vascular endothelial growth factor; 3. The molecules for the whole organism's adaptation: e.g. erythropoietin (EPO) and tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) (Czyzyk-Krzeska *et al.* 1994). Therefore, I selected TH as the main target gene for studying oxygen-dependent regulation of gene expression at the molecular level in the MAH cell line. This is the main focus of Chapter 2 in this thesis. I also carried our preliminary studies on HIF-1 $\alpha$  expression in this cell line, and results from this study are summarized in Appendix I.

Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 (HIF-1) is a main regulator of cellular and systemic oxygen homeostasis and the first O<sub>2</sub>-regulated transcription factor identified as being responsible for the induction of erythropoietin expression in hypoxic conditions (Iyer *et al.*, 1998; Semenza & Wang, 1992). More than 60 genes have been found to be regulated by HIF-1 in response to hypoxia (Semenza, 2003). HIF-1 is a heterodimer composed of two subunits, an O<sub>2</sub>-regulated HIF-1 $\alpha$  and a constitutively expressed HIF-1 $\beta$ /ARNT (Wang *et al.* 1995a; Wang *et al.* 1995b). Both HIF-1 $\alpha$  and HIF-1 $\beta$  belong to a family with basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) and PAS (Per/ARNT/Sim) domains (Wang *et al.* 1995b). HIF-2 $\alpha$  and HIF-3 $\alpha$  are two other bHLH-PAS transcription factors regulated by oxygen. HIF-1 $\alpha$  possesses prolyl hydroxylation sites, which enable HIF-1 $\alpha$  to interact with the von Hippel-Lindau tumor suppressor (pVHL). Under normoxic conditions, HIF-1 $\alpha$  protein is degraded by proteasomal ubiquitination by a ubiquitin E3 ligase (Huang *et al.* 1998; Srinivas *et al.* 1999) in a proline hydroxylation-dependent manner (Bruick & McKnigh, 2001; Ivan *et al.* 2001) mediated by the pVHL protein. In contrast, high levels of pVHL repress HIF-1 $\alpha$  accumulation and inhibit its activity during hypoxia (Cockman *et al.* 2000). Regulation of HIF-1 expression by cellular O<sub>2</sub> concentration is depicted by a scheme of PHD-VHL-HIF-1 pathway (Figure 1.1). Interaction of pVHL and HIF-1 $\alpha$  requires iron and is inhibited by cobalt, which might explain why cobalt and the iron chelator such as nickel increase HIF DNA-binding activity (Wang & Semenza, 1993; Goldberg *et al.* 1988).

There are three oxygenases termed PHD1 (PHD, prolyl hydroxylase domain enzyme), PHD2, and PHD3 that catalyze prolyl hydroxylation. Another oxygenase termed FIH (factor inhibiting HIF, a negative regulator of HIF), which prevents HIF-1 from interacting with the co-activators CBP and p300, catalyze asparaginal hydroxylation (Dann *et al.* 2002; Elkins *et al.* 2003). Decrease of these oxygenase activities leads to accumulation of HIF- $\alpha$ , dimerization with HIF- $\beta$ , recruitment of co-activator p300 and induction of expression of target genes (Schofield & Ratcliffe, 2004; Mahon *et al.* 2001; Kaelin, 2005), which reveal a direct connection between molecular oxygen and transcriptional response to hypoxia (Schofield & Ratcliffe, 2005). Figure 1.1 Regulation of HIF-1 by cellular  $O_2$  concentration. Under normoxic conditions, HIF-1 is subject to prolyl hydroxylation by PHDs 1-3. Prolyl hydroxylation is required for the interaction of HIF-1 with pVHL that constitutes a functional E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase complex including elongins B and C. Ubiquitination of HIF-1 is degradated by the 26S proteasome. Under hypoxic conditions, HIF-1 $\beta$  dimerizes with HIF-1 $\alpha$ , which escapes prolyl hydroxylation, ubiquitination and degradation. The HIF-1 heterodimer binds to hypoxia response elements (HRE) containing the core recognition sequence 5'-RCGTG-3' and interacts with coactivator (Coact) molecules ultimately resulting in the production of proteins that mediate physiologic responses to hypoxia. pVHL: von Hippel-Lindau tumor suppressor. PHD: prolyl hydroxylase-domain-containing proteins. (Semenza, *Cell.* 2001)



•

The mechanism of transcriptional induction is via the binding of a HIF-1 to the specific sequences on the regulated genes. The role of HIF-1 in hypoxia signaling (Lopez-Barneo *et al.* 2001) is based on the binding to the core site sequences 5 -(A/G) CGTG-3 found within the hypoxia response element (HRE) of a target gene (Semenza *et al.* 1996; Semenza, 2000). Furthermore, the HIF-1 signaling pathway has both acute response (hydroxylation of HIF-1 $\alpha$ ) and chronic response (HIF-1 induced change of gene expression) (Ratcliffe *et al.* 1998; Semenza, 2001; Lahiri *et al.* 2005).

#### Tyrosine Hydroxylase (TH)

Tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) is the first and pivotal rate-limiting enzyme in catecholamine biosynthesis and has a key role in the physiology of adrenergic neurons and hormone-producing chromaffin cells. TH catalyses the formation of L-dopa from tyrosine (Figure 1.2). L-dopa and dopamine are the metabolic precursors of the neurotransmitters and neurohormones, noradrenalin and adrenalin. Deficiency in dopamine production is associated with Parkinson's disease. TH belongs to the group of hypoxia-inducible genes in catecholamine-producing cells (Kroll *et al.* 1999). The induction of TH gene expression involves interaction of HIF-1 $\alpha$  with hypoxia responsive element (HRE) in the region of TH promoter (Phillip *et al.* 2003).

The enzyme TH has been intensively studied in relation to both its physiological function and regulation in response to different environmental

14

Figure 1.2 Tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) is a rate-limiting enzyme of biosynthesis of catecholamine. This shows the sequential synthesis of L-dopa, dopamine, noradrenaline, and adrenaline from tyrosine.

(Scheme 1 http://www.rsc.org/lap/educatio/eic/2002/sadler\_may02.htm).



conditions. Genes encoding neurotransmitter-synthesizing enzymes and receptors are particularly of interest in regard to adaptation of catecholaminergic chemoreceptor cells to hypoxia. For example, TH is upregulated by hypoxia in the O<sub>2</sub>-sensitive carotid body and in PC 12 cells (Paulding et al. 2002). In the carotid body. TH gene expression is regulated by oxygen tension in a manner similar to PC12 (Czyzyk-Krzeska et al. 1994). The adrenal medulla is the main site of the conversion of tyrosine into the catecholamines. It was also reported that prenatal exposure to hypoxia causes a delay in the maturation of the medulla of adrenal gland, both in terms of the level of TH proteins and their mRNAs and catecholamine production (Mamet et al. 2002). TH activity decreased in the more hypoxia-resistant dorsal brainstem area and was unchanged in other brain regions of sustained hypoxia-exposed rats (Gozal et al. 2005). In the rat brain cortex (a region of substantial hypoxic susceptibility), TH mRNA expression was increased, whereas protein expression remained unchanged (Gozal et al. 2005). These results indicate that there is region-specific modulation of TH expression and CA response in the rat brain (Gozal et al. 2005). Thus, the study of hypoxic regulation of TH in O<sub>2</sub>-sensitive, catecholamine providing cells is a useful approach for investigating molecular mechanisms of oxygen sensing and adaptation to chronic or intermittent hypoxia. 

#### Molecular Techniques Involved in This Study

#### Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)

Most molecular biological studies rely on techniques that can detect minute quantities of nucleic acids. Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) was invented by Kary B. Mullis who was awarded the 1993 Nobel Prize for chemistry. With the introduction of the PCR, more sensitive levels of detection and higher levels of amplification of specific sequences are achieved, and in less time compared to previously used methods. Since then, it became central to molecular biology. PCR is a technique to exponentially amplify in vitro a specific nucleotide sequence in the presence of template sequence. Two oligonucleotide primers can form stable associations (anneal) with the separated target DNA strands and serve as primers for DNA synthesis by a thermostable (Taq) DNA polymerase (Innis *et al.* 1994). Briefly, the reaction is cycled involving template denaturation, primer annealing, and the extension of the annealed primers by DNA polymerase until enough copies are made for further analysis (McPherson *et al.* 1991).

Perhaps the most critical factor for successful PCR is the appropriate design of primers, because poorly designed primers can result in little or no product due to non-specific amplification, which can suppress product formation. The primer sequence determines several properties such as melting temperature  $(T_m)$  and ultimately the yield. For primer selection, there are several variables that have to be taken into account such as Primer length, Melting Temperature  $(T_m)$ , Specificity, Complementary Primer Sequences, G/C content and Polypyrimidine (T, C) or polypurine (A, G) stretches (McPherson *et al.* 1991). The base composition of primers should be between 45% and 55% GC, 3 -end sequence (Sharrocks, 1994). The 3 -terminal position in PCR primers is essential for the control of mis-priming (Kwok *et al.* 1990).

In general, oligonucleotide primers between 18 and 24 bases are extremely sequence specific and annealing temperature is optimal with a general rule that the annealing temperature should be at least 50°C and 5°C lower than the melting temperature (Sharrocks, 1994). Normally, a melting temperature of 55°C -72°C gives the best results and it can be calculated using the formula:  $T_m = 2(A+T) + 4(G+C)$  (Sambrook, 1989)... Ideally the primer will have a near random mix of nucleotides, a 50% GC content and be ~20 bases long. This will put the  $T_m$  in the range of 56°C - 62°C (Dieffenbach *et al.* 1995).

After 20-40 cycles, the amplified PCR products may then be analyzed by agarose gel electrophoresis for size, quantity, sequence used for further procedures. The products will be readily visible by UV transillumination of ethidium bromide.

#### **Reverse Transcription-PCR (RT-PCR)**

Numerous techniques have been developed to measure gene expression in tissues and cells. RT-PCR couples reverse transcription and PCR amplification (reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction), which is one of the most sensitive and versatile methods (Bustin, 2000). The technique can be used to determine the presence or absence of a transcript, to estimate expression levels and to clone cDNA products without the necessity of constructing and screening a cDNA library. RT-PCR, in which the, needs an initial reverse transcriptase step to make a DNA template. Starting template is RNA in RT-PCR and experiments in this thesis employed reverse transcriptases for first strand cDNA synthesis to make DNA template. Second strand cDNA synthesis and subsequent PCR amplification was performed with *Taq* DNA polymerase.

#### Western Blotting

The electrophoretic transfer of proteins from SDS-PAGE (sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide) gels to nitrocellulose or PVDF membranes was initially referred to as "Western" blotting, whereas the term immunoblotting is used in order to avoid this geographical jargon (Anon, Sigma, 2002). It allows investigators to detect one protein in a mixture of any number of proteins, to determine the molecular weight of a protein and to measure relative amounts of the protein present in different samples.

The power of the technique is to detect specific protein by means of its antigenicity. The attachment of specific antibodies to antigens can be visualized by immunoassay techniques, usually using chromogenic substrate which produces an insoluble product; now chemiluminescent substrates have begun to be used because of their greater detection sensitivity (Anon, Sigma, 2002). Probes for the detection of antibody binding can be conjugated anti-immunoglobulins (eg: goat-anti-rabbit / human); conjugated staphylococcal Protein A (which binds IgG of various species

of animal); or probes to biotinylated / digoxigeninylated primary antibodies (eg: conjugated avidin / streptavidin / antibody) (Rybicki, 1996).

Briefly, 1) Samples are prepared from tissues or cells that are homogenized in a buffer that protects the protein of interest from degradation; 2) The proteins are separated using SDS-PAGE SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and then transferred to a polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membrane or a nitrocellulose (NC) membrane for detection; 3) The membrane is incubated with a generic protein (such as milk proteins) to bind to any remaining sticky places on the membrane; 4) The blot is incubated with a primary antibody, which sticks to proteins and forms an antibody-protein complex; 5) A secondary antibody-enzyme (e.g. alkaline phosphatase or horseradish peroxidase ) conjugate, which recognizes the primary antibody is added to find locations where the primary antibody bound; 6) The location of the antibody is revealed by incubating it with a colorless substrate that the attached enzyme converts to a colored product that can be seen and photographed: 7) The location of the antibody is revealed by incubating it with a chemiluminescent substrate that can be exposed to X-ray and seen. When using western blot, it does not matter whether the protein has been synthesized in vivo or in vitro. This method is, however, dependent on the use of a high-quality antibody directed against a desired protein.

#### **Organization of Thesis**

The thesis is organized as one chapter of general introduction (Ch1) and one primary chapter (Ch2) and several appendices. Chapter 1 focuses on the general introduction of the relative background of oxygen-sensing mechanisms and several methods employed in this thesis. Chapter 2 is the main experimental portion of this thesis and focuses on the study of regulation of tyrosine hydroxylase gene expression in MAH cells by chronic hypoxia. There are three appendices. Preliminary studies on HIF-1 $\alpha$  expression in MAH cell line are summarized in Appendix I. Appendix II summarizes the buffers and solutions used in this study, and lists western blotting protocol. All the determined protein concentrations of homogenates are in Appendix III.

••

M.Sc. Thesis- J. Liu McMaster- Biology

#### **CHAPTER 2**

## REGULATION OF TYROSINE HYDROXYLASE GENE EXPRESSION IN MAH CELLS BY CHRONIC HYPOXIA

#### SUMMARY

In this study, the effect of chronic hypoxia on tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) mRNA and protein expression was investigated in the adrenomedullary chromaffin MAH cell line. RT-PCR results indicated that TH mRNA was expressed in MAH cells both during normoxia (20% O<sub>2</sub>) and hypoxia (5% O<sub>2</sub>). However, TH mRNA expression during chronic hypoxia was significantly higher than that during normoxia, increasing by approximately 2-fold after 16 hour exposure to chronic hypoxia. Western Blot analysis of the regulation of TH gene expression by chronic hypoxia indicated that TH protein initially decreased during 10 hr exposure to hypoxia and this was followed by a rapid increase in expression over the next 10 hr, and a slower increase (up to 1.3x initial control) after 72 hr exposure. Therefore, TH mRNA and protein levels were changed in MAH cells by hypoxia in a timedependent manner. Surprisingly, cobalt treatment of MAH cells, expected to mimic the effects of chronic hypoxia, had little effect on TH gene expression. Interestingly, the decrease in TH protein expression after 10 hr exposure to hypoxia was prevented by nifedipine, an L-type calcium channel blocker. These results suggest that MAH cells represent a useful model system for examining hypoxia-induced gene regulation in an O<sub>2</sub>-sensitive cell line.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Activation of specific genes leading to protein synthesis is considered important for triggering adaptive responses to hypoxia (Bunn & Poyton, 1996). For example, hypoxia induces several important genes including those that encode erythropoietin (EPO), vascular endothelial growth factor, and glycolytic enzymes (Ratcliffe *et al.* 1998). Investigation of tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) expression, the rate-limiting enzyme in catecholamine biosynthesis, is a convenient way to study the mechanisms of oxygen-sensitivity in certain cell types. The oxygenchemosensitive pheochromocytoma (PC12) cell line, derived from rat adrenal tissue, has been frequently used as a model system to study the cellular and molecular mechanisms for O<sub>2</sub>-dependent regulation of TH expression. However, there are reports of heterogeneous characteristics among PC12 cells in studying oxygen sensitivity (Green *et al.* 2001), and moreover, these cells do not express all of the O<sub>2</sub>-sensing properties present in native adrenal chromaffin cells (Zhu *et al.* 1996; Fearon *et al.* 2002).

In this study, the adrenomedullary chromaffin MAH cell line (Birren & Anderson, 1990) was used as a new surrogate model to study the regulation of TH expression by hypoxia. This immortalized chromaffin cell line was recently shown to express several  $O_2$ -sensitive properties characteristic of neonatal adrenal

chromaffin cells (Fearon *et al.* 2002). RT-PCR technique was used to study the TH mRNA regulation by chronic hypoxia. Moreover, Western Blot was used to investigate the time course of changes in TH protein expression during normoxia and hypoxia.

Another objective was to determine whether cobalt mimics the effect of hypoxia in regulating TH expression in MAH cells. Finally, I also examined the potential role of  $Ca^{2+}$  entry in the regulation of TH gene expression by hypoxia in MAH cells.

#### **METHODS**

#### 1. Materials

Taq DNA polymerase (5U/ul), 10mM dNTP Mix and 100bp DNA ladder (1 µg/µl) were purchased from Invitrogen, Life Technologies, Inc. (Leek, The Netherlands). Cells-to-cDNA Kits (1xPBS, cell lysis buffer, DNase I, RTase, RNase Inhibitor) for reverse transcription were purchased from Ambion Inc. CelLytic-M (CAT: C2978) was purchased from Sigma. PCR Purification and Agarose Gel Extraction Kits were purchased from Qiagen Inc. Trypsin-EDTA (0.5%) was obtained from Gibco-BRL (Eggenstein, Germany). ECL Western Blotting detection reagents were purchased from Amersham Biosciences. Ethidium bromide and agarose were of reagent grade and purchased from Invitrogen, Life Technologies, Inc. (Leek, The Netherlands). Poly-D-Lysine, DTT, Tris-Cl, SDS, Acrylamide/Bis-acrylamide, Ammonium

Persulfate, and TEMED were from Sigma. Complete mini EDTA-free protease inhibitor cocktail tablets was purchased from Roche (Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Germany). ECL<sup>TM</sup> western blotting detection reagents were purchased from Amersham Biosciences (Code: RPN 2106). PVDF transfer membrane was purchased from Gelman Laboratory. Protease inhibitor was obtained from Roche (Mannheim, Germany). Polyclonal anti-mouse IgG (HRP-conjugated) was obtained from NOVUS Biologicals, Inc. (CAT NO: NB 720-H). Mouse anti anti-tyrosine hydroxylase monoclonal antibodies was purchased from Chemicon Inc. (CAT NO: MAB-5280). Bovine serum albumin was from Amersham Biosciences, Piscataway, USA. Protein Assay Dye Reagent Concentrate was obtained from Bio-Rad. Other chemicals were of reagent grade and purchased from commercial suppliers.

#### 2. Cell culture

MAH cells were maintained in liquid nitrogen for long term storage. MAH cells were grown on 35 mm<sup>2</sup> Nunc dishes in 1.5 ml complete L-15/CO<sub>2</sub> medium that contained 10% Fetal Calf Serum, 5  $\mu$ M Dexamethasone, Fresh Vitamin Mix (FVM), D-glucose, Glutamine, 10,000 units/ml Pen/Strep (Sigma, USA). Cells were grown at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere containing 20% O<sub>2</sub>, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, remainder N<sub>2</sub>. The culture dishes were coated with poly-D-lysine (100  $\mu$ g/ml) for cell attachment for 2 hours at room temperature and then rinsed 3 times with sterile distilled water. Laminin (10  $\mu$ g/ml) was added to the dishes and allowed to sit for at least 1 hour at room temperature. The medium was changed every 3 days. To passage cells,
culture medium was removed and the cells were suspended in 0.25% trypsin, then the cell suspension was centrifuged. Finally, the pellet was resuspended in fresh medium. Trypsinized cells were counted using a haemocytometer to measure the density of cells in a liquid and therefore to estimate the number of cells in the dishes.

For experiments requiring chronic exposures, cells were exposed to either normoxia (20%  $O_2$ , 5%  $CO_2$ , remainder  $N_2$ , 37°C) or hypoxia (5%  $O_2$ , 5%  $CO_2$ , remainder  $N_2$ , 37°C) in an  $O_2$ - regulated incubator for 16 hours (for experiments on TH mRNA expression) or for various time intervals (for experiments on TH protein expression).

To mimic hypoxia, regular medium was replaced with medium containing 100  $\mu$ M CoCl<sub>2</sub>. To investigate the potential role of calcium entry through L-type calcium channels, the blocker nifedipine (5  $\mu$ M dissolved in DMSO) was added in the medium. An equal concentration of DMSO was used in control experiments. All the treatments were started simultaneously with the replacement of regular medium with the drug-containing medium, immediately before cells were exposed to the hypoxia (5% O<sub>2</sub>) environment.

## 3. TH mRNA expression analysis

## 3.1 RT-PCR

The two-step RT-PCR method was used. Total RNA was isolated from normoxic and hypoxic MAH cell cultures using Cells-to-cDNA kit according to manufacturer's methods offered by Ambion Inc. For cDNA synthesis, RNA was heat denatured (3 min at 70°C) and reverse transcribed in 2U/µl DNase I, RT buffer, M-MLV Reverse Transcriptase (RT), 10U/µl RNase inhibitor, 50µM random primers and 2.5 mM dNTP Mix. Following incubation for 30 min at 37°C and for 30 min at 42°C, the reaction was stopped by heating to 95°C for 5 min. Reactions were run in a thermo-cycler (Model PTC-200, MJ Research, Inc.).

Following the reverse transcription step, cDNA was amplified by PCR reactions containing 10xPCR buffer, 10 mM dNTP mixture, 50 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, upstream and downstream primers, template cDNAs and platinum Tag DNA polymerase (5U/ul). Total reaction volume was 25  $\mu$ l with DNase-free water. TH and  $\beta$ -actin cDNAs were amplified using specific primers (see blow) with an initial denaturation for 3 min at 94°C, following 35 cycles: denaturation for 30s at 94°C, annealing for 30s at 54°C ( $\beta$ -actin and TH), polymerization for 1 min at 72°C and a final polymerization step for 10 min at 72°C. RT-PCR products were electrophoresed with ethidium bromide-stained 1% agarose gels and were visualized by ultraviolet illumination. The 100bp DNA ladder was used as markers. Gene specific primers were designed with Vector NT software and internet resources (www-genome.wi.mit.edu/cgi-bin/primer/primer3.cgi) and synthesized by the Central Facility of the Institute for Molecular Biology and Biotechnology (MOBIX), McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada. The primers used in study were TH (F: 5-AAACCCTCCTCCTTGTCTCG-3; R: (5this ATCTCTTCCGCTGTGTATTCC-3) (F: 5 and *B*-actin GAGGGAAATCGTGCGTGA-3; R: 5 -ATCTGCTGGAAGGTGGACA-3)

28

| 1 able 2.1 bist of primers sequences of rytosme myuloxylase and p-act | Table 2.1 List of primers sequences | s of Tyrosine | Hydroxylase | e and <i>B</i> -acti |
|---|-------------------------------------|---------------|-------------|----------------------|
|---|-------------------------------------|---------------|-------------|----------------------|

.

| Target                  | Primer Sequence                                       | The region | Target   | GenBank   |
|-------------------------|---|------------|----------|-----------|
|                         | (5' to 3')  | spanned in | Sequence | Accession |
|                         |   |            | length   | ł         |
|                         |   | the gene   | (bp)     | Number    |
| Tyrosine<br>Hydroxylase | F: AAACCCTCC TCCTTGTCTCG<br>R: ATCTCTTCCGC TGTGTATTCC | 277-689    | 413      | NM_012740 |
| β-actin                 | F: GAGGGAAATCGTGCGTGA<br>R: ATCTGCTGG AAGGTGGACA      | 615-1064   | 450      | NM_031144 |

(see table 2.1 for details).

The TH and  $\beta$ -actin amplified RT-PCR products were extracted from agarose gels using Agarose Gel Extraction Kit (Qiagen Inc.) and these products were sequenced by Mobix Lab (McMaster University). The sequencing results were analyzed by BLAST, NIH computer software, for gene sequences identification. GenBank accession numbers of *Rattus nonvegicus* mRNA coding sequences for TH and  $\beta$ -actin were NM\_012740 and NM\_031144.

## 3.2 Densitometry and statistical analysis

The RT-PCR results were quantified by densitometry using Chemiimager imaging system (Alpha Innotech Co.) and 2D spot dense software (AlphaEase<sup>TM</sup> Software) that provided image acquisition and densitometry analysis. Each band was analyzed by using ID-Multi lane and 2D spot densitometry. The integrated density values (IDV) were taken from the pixel values for further analysis.

Data are presented as means  $\pm$  SEM for 5 individual experiments. Results were analyzed by non-parametric Mann-Whitney U statistic test using INSTAT. *P*-values less than 0.05 were considered to be significant (\**P*<0.05).

# 4. Time course study of TH protein expression during chronic hypoxia4.1 Sample preparation

In this project, 35 samples were prepared and classified as C Nox (control of normoxia, 20%  $O_2$ ) and Hox10h, Hox24h, Hox34h, Hox48h, Hox58h, Hox72h (10, 24, 34, 48, 58, 72 h exposure to hypoxia (5%  $O_2$ ), respectively).

MAH cell cultures were washed with PBS (pH 7.2) and homogenized by adding lysis buffer (0.15 M NaCl, 5 mM EDTA, 1% Triton X 100, 10 mM Tris-Cl and 1% SDS) supplemented with 0.2 mM dithiothreitol and EDTA-free protease inhibitors for the complete inhibition of serine and cysteine proteases (20  $\mu$ g/ml pancreas-extract, 2  $\mu$ g/ml chymotrypsin, 0.5  $\mu$ g/ml thermolysin, 20  $\mu$ g/ml trypsin, and 0.33 mg/ml papain). The homogenates were allowed to sit on a rotator for 15 min, before harvesting and centrifugation at 1000g for 10 min at 4°C. Finally, the supernatants were carefully transferred to 1.5 ml pre-chilled tubes and stored at -75°C for use.

#### 4.2 Protein concentration assay

All homogenates were tested for total protein concentration with a protein assay dye reagent concentrate (Bio-Rad Laboratories), which is a dye-binding assay based on Bradford assay for determination of protein concentration. According to the Bio-Rad protein assay protocol, optical density (OD) at 595 nm of homogenates was determined in a spectrophotometer. Bovine serum albumin (BSA) standard curve provided a relative measurement of protein concentration (Appendix II: Figure II.1).

#### 4.3 Semi-quantitative western blotting

Diluted samples with same concentration were then mixed with an equal volume of sample buffer containing 40% (v/v) glycerol. Then the samples were boiled for 5 min in order to denature the proteins and cooled at room temperature for 5 min prior to loading gel. Samples containing 2.5 µg protein were electrophoresed and separated on 10% SDS-polyacrylamide gels running with constant current for about 1.5 hours (110 volts for stacking gel and 130 volts for running gel). The Bio-Rad vertical slab gel apparatus (6cm X 8cm, 1.5mm gel thick) and tank transfer system were used for SDS-PAGE and electrotransfers. Briefly, proteins were transferred onto PVDF membranes in transfer buffer (0.25 M Tris-base, 1.92 M Glycine, 0.1% SDS, pH 8.3) for 3 hr at 300 mA at 4°C and blocked for 1 hr at room temperature in Tris-buffered saline (TBS)-T (50 mM Tris pH 8.0, 133 mM NaCl, 0.1% (v/v) Tween-20) with 5% non-fat milk powder. The blots were incubated with 1:1000 mouse anti-tyrosine hydroxylase primary antibody (Immunogen: purified TH from a rat pheochromocytoma, Chemicon Inc.) overnight at 4°C. After washing in TBS-T, membranes were incubated in 1:10,000 polyclonal anti-mouse IgG HRP conjugated secondary antibody for 1 hr at room temperature. Finally, the signals were visualized by a chemiluminescence system (ECL<sup>TM</sup> kit, Amersham Biosciences) to detect immunoreactive proteins.

The detailed buffers/solutions and protocol for western blotting used in this study were modified from *The Manual of Molecular Cloning III* and Millipore Inc. handbook for blotting (see Appendix II)

32

#### 5. Effect of cobalt and nifedipine on TH expression

## 5.1 Sample preparation

In these experiments, 20 samples treated with 100  $\mu$ M cobalt were prepared and classified as C<sub>0</sub>, Co<sup>2+</sup>Nox10h, Co<sup>2+</sup>Nox34h, Co<sup>2+</sup>Nox72h (control of normoxia, 10, 34, 72 h exposure to cobalt, respectively, 20% O<sub>2</sub>). In addition, 35 samples treated with 5  $\mu$ M nifedipine were prepared and classified as NifNox10h, NifNox34h, NifNox72h (10, 34, 72 h exposure to nifedipine, 20% O<sub>2</sub>, respectively) and NifHox10h, NifHox34h, NifHox72h (10, 34, 72 h exposure to nifedipine plus hypoxia (5% O<sub>2</sub>), respectively).

Homogenization was done by adding homogenizer buffer, CelLytic-M (Sigma) to the dishes, which were left on ice for 5 minutes and allowed to sit on a rotator for 15 min according to the CelLytic-M protocol. The homogenates were harvested and centrifuged at 14,000g for 15 min at 4°C to pellet the cellular debris. Finally, the supernatants were carefully transferred to 1.5 ml pre-chilled tubes and stored at -75°C for use.

#### 5.2 Protein concentration assay

All homogenates were tested for total protein concentration with a Bio-Rad protein assay protocol. Optical density (OD) at 595 nm of homogenates was determined in a spectrophotometer. Bovine serum albumin (BSA) standard curves were made for measurement of protein concentration (Appendix II: Figure II.2).

## 5.3 Semi-quantitative western blotting

Diluted samples containing 1.6 µg protein for the group treated with 100 µM cobalt and samples containing 2.8 µg protein for the group treated with 5 µM nifedipine were electrophoresed and separated on 10% SDS-polyacrylamide gels The blots were incubated with 1:1000 mouse anti-tyrosine hydroxylase primary antibody and the signals were visualized by a chemiluminescence system (ECL<sup>TM</sup> kit, Amersham Biosciences) to detect immunoreactive proteins. The detailed buffers/solutions and protocol for western blotting used in this study were modified from *The Manual of Molecular Cloning III* and Millipore Inc. handbook for blotting (see Appendix I).

## 5.4. Densitometry and statistical analysis on TH protein

The intensity of the immunoreactive protein bands of western blots was quantified by densitometry using Scanner and Chemiimager imaging system (Alpha Innotech Co.) and 2D spot dense software (AlphaEase<sup>TM</sup> Software). Each band was analyzed by using ID-Multi lane and 2D spot densitometry. Local background was subtracted from each band. The integrated density values (IDV) were taken from the pixel values for further analysis.

Data are expressed as means  $\pm$  SEM for 5 individual experiments. One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to test for multiple comparisons among independent groups of data. *P*-values less than 0.05 were considered to be significant.

#### RESULTS

## 1. RT-PCR detection of mRNA for TH and $\beta$ -actin in MAH cells under normoxia

MAH cells were exposed to a normoxic environment (20% O<sub>2</sub>, 5%CO<sub>2</sub>, remainder N<sub>2</sub>) for 16 hours. RT-PCR technique was employed in order to detect the expression of mRNAs encoding TH, and  $\beta$ -actin. The sizes of amplified PCR products are 413 bp for TH and 450 bp for  $\beta$ -actin. The electrophoresis bands with expected sizes of targets TH and  $\beta$ -actin, a house keeping gene used as a positive control, with expected sizes are shown in Figure 2.1 A, B.

BLAST analysis of the DNA sequenced data confirmed that TH and  $\beta$ -actin PCR products were 100% identical to published known sequences.

## 2. Semi-quantitative analysis of TH mRNA expression during normoxia vs chronic hypoxia

To investigate whether hypoxia regulates expression of TH mRNA in MAH cells, semi-quantitative RT-PCR was performed. Results from one such experiment are shown in Figure 2.2 (A). Exposure of MAH cells to 5% O<sub>2</sub> for 16 hours caused an apparent increase in expression of TH mRNA compared with cells exposed to normoxia (20% O<sub>2</sub>; Figure 2.2). The ratio of hypoxia–induced expression of TH mRNA relative to  $\beta$ -actin was significantly higher (n=5, P<0.05) than that of normoxic control (Figure 2.2 B). A reduction in oxygen concentration from 20% to 5% was sufficient to enhance TH gene expression in MAH cells and these results

Figure 2.1 Detection of mRNAs encoding TH and  $\beta$ -actin in MAH cells. Total RNA for RT-PCR was prepared from MAH cells exposed to normoxic environment (20% O<sub>2</sub>) for 16 hours. (A). RT-PCR was performed using specific TH primers. A single band of TH PCR product consisting of 413 bp fragments was observed. In negative control lane (-) (PCR reaction without RT) no PCR products were observed. The brightest band in the top of the marker lane is 600 bp in size. PCR products were separated with ethidium bromide-stained 1% agarose gels and were visualized by ultraviolet illumination. (B). A single band of  $\beta$ -actin RT-PCR product consisting of 450 bp was observed. The positive lane (+) is reaction with templates of RT reaction mixture. The negative lane (-) is reaction without RT mixture and no PCR products were found in this lane. The 100 bp DNA ladder was used as markers. PCR products were separated with ethidium bromide-stained 1% agarose gels and viewed under ultraviolet illumination.





A

B

Figure 2.2 Semi-quantitative analysis of the regulation of TH mRNA expression by hypoxia. Total RNA for RT-PCR was prepared from MAH cells exposed to normoxic environment (16 hours; 20% O<sub>2</sub>, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, remainder N<sub>2</sub>) or to hypoxia (16 hours; 5% O<sub>2</sub>, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, remainder N<sub>2</sub>). The raw data from one of 5 experiments is shown in A. Lanes 1 and 4 are the negative control lanes (-) for  $\beta$ actin and TH (PCR reaction without RT), respectively; no PCR products were observed. Lane 2 and lane 5 (+) are  $\beta$ -actin and TH RT-PCR products respectively with RT reaction mixture. Both PCR reactions for TH and  $\beta$ -actin had same amount of template from the same RT products of MAH cells. The 100 bp DNA ladder was used as the marker. (B). Data analyzed with non-parametric Mann-Whitney U statistic test illustrated that the ratio of hypoxia–induced expression of TH mRNA relative to  $\beta$ -actin was significantly higher ( $\approx$ 2x, n=5, P<0.05) than that of normoxia in MAH cells.  $\beta$ -actin was used as a positive control. \*P<0.05







A

39

suggested that 16-hours chronic hypoxia caused a specific induction of TH mRNA in MAH cells (approximately 2x; Figure 2.2 B).

#### 3. Time course study of TH protein expression

## 3.1 Determination of concentrations of protein

See Appendix II (I) (table II.1).

# 3.2 Time course analysis of the effect of oxygen tension on TH protein expression

A time-course study of TH gene expression in MAH cells after 10-72 hr exposure to hypoxia was done. Homogenates of MAH cells exposed to 5%  $O_2$  for 10hr, 24hr, 34hr, 48hr, 58hr and 72hr were analyzed by western blotting. Figure 2.3 (A) shows the different bands corresponding to the different time intervals, and in each lane the same amount of protein (2 µg) was loaded. Similar western blot experiments were repeated for another four times (Fig. 2.3 B). The TH molecular weight is 60kDa as shown in Fig. 2.3 and BenchMark protein ladder was used as molecular weight standards. All western blots of TH protein were quantified by densitometry for the following analysis.

The mean changes in TH gene expression in MAH cells following different exposure times to chronic hypoxia are illustrated graphically in Fig. 2.4. This curve revealed that TH gene expression dropped substantially during the first 10 hr exposure to hypoxia and then increased back to the initial control level over the

Figure 2.3 Western blotting of MAH cell homogenates using monoclonal anti-TH antibody. (A) The top panel shows a single Western blot of TH proteins from MAH cells exposed for 10 to72 hours (Hox10h-Hox72h) to chronic hypoxia (5%  $O_2$ ) or to normoxia (20% $O_2$ ) as a control (C Nox). (B) The bottom panels are from another 4 independent western blot experiments.



В



A

Figure 2.4 Time-dependent changes in TH protein expression following exposure of MAH cells to chronic hypoxia. Exposure to 5% O<sub>2</sub> caused a substantial drop in TH expression after 10 h exposure to hypoxia. Subsequently, TH levels increased back to control levels over the next 24 hrs exposure and then slowly increased up to 72 hr exposure reaching values of ~ 1.3x control. Values are expressed as fold change relative to normoxic control. Data represent the mean  $\pm$ SEM from 5 independent experiments at each time point. One-way ANOVA revealed that at 10 hr exposure to hypoxia, TH protein level was significantly less (\* p<0.05) than that at 34 hr exposure, which appeared similar to initial control. Error bars indicate 95% confidence intervals. The data were calculated from integrated density values (IDV) of TH protein on Western blots using densitometry.



next 10-20 hr. Subsequently, TH expression appeared to increase more slowly up to 72 hr exposure, when levels reached approximately 1.3x control (normoxia).

#### 4. Effect of cobalt treatment on MAH cells

## 4.1 Determination of protein concentrations of homogenates

See appendix II (II) (table II. 2).

#### 4.2 Effect of cobalt on TH protein expression

A time course study of TH gene expression in MAH cells treated with 100  $\mu$ M cobalt after 10 hr, 34 hr and 72 hr exposure was done. Homogenates of cobalt-treated and control MAH cells exposed to 20% O<sub>2</sub> for 10 hr, 34 hr and 72 hr were analyzed by western blotting. Figure 2.5 A shows the different bands corresponding to the different time points, and in each lane the same amount of protein (1.6  $\mu$ g) from homogenates was loaded. Similar western blot experiments were repeated for another four times (Fig. 2.5 B). The TH molecular weight is 60 kDa as shown and BenchMark protein ladder was used as molecular weight standards. All western blots of TH protein were quantified by densitometry for the following analysis.

Figure 2.6 shows the effect of  $Co^{2+}$  treatment on TH protein expression in MAH cells under normoxic (20% O<sub>2</sub>) environment. TH protein expression in cells treated with  $Co^{2+}$  did not change relative to control cells at least after 72 hr exposure. In particular, compared with time course of TH protein changes during hypoxia (5% O<sub>2</sub>) (dashed line; reproduced from Fig 2.4), cobalt treatment even after

Figure 2.5 Western blot analysis of TH in MAH cells treated with cobalt under normoxic environment. A. The graph shows western blot analysis of TH protein in MAH cells treated with 100  $\mu$ M cobalt under 20% O<sub>2</sub> conditions for 10h, 34h and 72h, respectively. B. The bottom panels are from another 4 independent western blot experiments. TH molecular weight is 60 kDa as shown. C<sub>0</sub> is normoxic control without cobalt treatment.





Α



Figure 2.6 Effect of cobalt on TH protein expression in MAH cells. MAH cells were treated with 100  $\mu$ M cobalt for the indicated times (10, 34, 72 hr) under normoxia (20% O<sub>2</sub>). Values are expressed as fold change from initial normoxic control without cobalt treatment. Data represent the mean  $\pm$  SEM of five independent experiments and indicate TH expression did not change significantly over 72 hr exposure period. In particular, compared with TH protein expression during hypoxia (5% O<sub>2</sub>) (dashed line, reproduced from Fig 2.4), cobalt did not cause the substantial drop in TH expression (at 10 hr in hypoxia), even after 72 hr exposure.



72 hr did not cause the substantial drop in TH expression seen after 10 h exposure to hypoxia.

## 5. Effects of nifedipine on expression of TH protein during chronic hypoxia5.1 Determination of protein concentrations of homogenates

See appendix II (II) (table II. 3).

#### 5.2 Effect of nifedipine on TH protein expression

To investigate whether  $Ca^{2+}$  entry through L-type  $Ca^{2+}$  channels was involved in the hypoxic regulation of TH gene expression, MAH cells were treated with the  $Ca^{2+}$  channel blocker, nifedipine (5  $\mu$ M). In these experiments, nifedipine-treated MAH cells were incubated in both 20% O<sub>2</sub> and 5% O<sub>2</sub> conditions for 10 hr and 72 hr, and TH protein expression was assessed by Western blotting. Figure 2.7 shows five experiments of TH protein blots for MAH cells treated with nifedipine. C<sub>0</sub> is the initial normoxic control without nifedipine treatment. A small progressive increase in TH protein expression was observed in nifedipine-treated cultures over 72 hr exposure to hypoxia reaching approximately 1.4x control (normoxia) (Fig. 2.8). Interestingly, compared with the time course of TH protein change during hypoxia (dashed line; reproduced from Fig. 1.4), these results suggested that pretreatment with the calcium channel blocker prevented the hypoxia-induced decrease in TH protein expression after ~10 hr exposure. In addition, nifedipine did not appear to affect TH protein expression during normoxia.

## Figure 2.7 Western blot analysis of TH in MAH cells treated with nifedipine. A.

Autoradiograph shows western blot analysis of TH protein in MAH cells treated with 5  $\mu$ M nifedipine under either 20% O<sub>2</sub> or 5% O<sub>2</sub> conditions for 10h and 72h. **B**. The bottom panels are from another 4 independent western blot experiments. TH molecular weight is 60 kDa as shown. C<sub>0</sub> is normoxic control.





Α



20% O2 + Nif 5% O2 + Nif



Figure 2.8 Effects of nifedipine on expression of TH protein in MAH cells during chronic hypoxia. MAH cells were treated with 5  $\mu$ M nifedipine (an L-type calcium channel blocker) for the indicated times (10h and 72 h). Values are expressed as fold change relative to control. Values represent the mean  $\pm$  SEM of five independent determinations using western blotting. In normoxia, nifedipine had no detectable effect on TH expression over 72 hr exposure. In contrast, in hypoxia, nifedipine prevented the decrease in TH protein expression normally seen after 10 hr exposure. However, after 72 hr exposure to hypoxia, the normal increase in TH expression (~1.4x control) still occurred in the presence of nifedipine. The dashed line was reproduced from Fig 2.4 representing the hypoxic effect on TH expression.



#### DISCUSSION

In the current study, I used the adrenal chromaffin MAH cell line as new surrogate model system to study regulation of tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) gene expression by hypoxia at the mRNA and protein levels. The results show that chronic hypoxia regulates TH gene expression in a time-dependent manner.

#### Time course of TH induction by chronic hypoxia

Chronic hypoxia (5% O<sub>2</sub>, 16 hours) caused a significant increase (~1.9 fold) in TH mRNA in MAH cells compared to that during normoxia. Another chromaffin cell line (PC12 cells) was previously used as a model system to study the molecular mechanisms for regulating TH gene expression during hypoxia (Czyzyk-krzeska *et al.* 1994a&b). In PC12 cells, the maximum level of TH mRNA induction (4.5-fold above control levels) occurred at 6h after the onset of hypoxia (5% O<sub>2</sub>), and comparable results were reported for the O<sub>2</sub>-sensitive carotid body type I cells (Czyzyk-krzeska *et al.* 1994a). Thus, the MAH cell line shares similarities to the PC12 cell line and carotid body with respect to the increase of TH expression at mRNA level during hypoxia, although they are quantitative differences. These immortalized cells derived from the embryonic rat adrenal and it is noteworthy that in a previous study on rat adrenal medulla, maternal hypoxia (11-13% O<sub>2</sub>) led to 2-3 fold increase in fetal adrenal TH mRNA on the day before birth (Holgert *et al.* 1995).

Interestingly, western blot experiments demonstrated that TH protein expression in MAH cells was biphasic over 72 hours of exposure to hypoxia. Initially, there was a significant decline during first 10 hours of hypoxia. This was followed by a progressive increase in TH expression, which eventually exceeded the initial control ( $\sim$ 1.3x) by 72 hr of exposure. In contrast, in PC12 cells, TH protein level elevated to  $\sim 1.7x$  control at 24 hr, reached a peak value  $\sim 3x$  control at 48 h, and remained elevated for at least 72 of hypoxia (5%  $O_2$ ) (Millhorn *et al.* 1997). However, study of TH protein expression in PC 12 cells at  $\sim 10$  hr was not reported (Czyzyk-Krzeska, 1997). From these results, it could be concluded that the magnitude and time-course of hypoxia-induced changes in gene expression may be cell-type dependent. It was surprising that MAH cells showed a significantly drop of TH protein level during the initial 10 hr of chronic hypoxia. One of possible explanations is that MAH cells might exhibit more properties of epinephrineproducing (E) chromaffin cells and express PNMT (Phenylethanolamine Nmethyltransferase, the key enzyme of adrenaline synthesis), which might activate an inhibitory signal pathway during hypoxia and result in decrease in TH expression by substrate inhibition. This assumption may be consistent with a previous report that MAH cells secrete primarily epinephrine (Vandenbergh et al. 1991). The drop of TH protein expression observed in MAH cells correlates with the observation that prenatal exposure to hypoxia causes a delay in the maturation of TH protein and mRNA in the medullary region of the adrenal gland (Mamet et al. 2002). In rat brain, chronic hypoxia causes site-specific changes in TH gene expression. For

example, increases in TH expression occurred in the cerebral cortex, whereas decreases occurred in the brainstem and no changes occurred in other brain regions (Gozal *et al.* 2005).

### Effect of cobalt treatment on TH expression

Hypoxic responses can be mimicked by cobalt (Porwol *et al.* 1998), leading to transcriptional changes such as TH induction (Yuan *et al.* 2003). In PC12 cells,  $Co^{2+}$  induced TH expression and combined treatment with  $Co^{2+}$  and with hypoxia resulted in an augmented effect on TH expression (Sandra *et al.* 1998). However, in MAH cells, TH protein expression in cells treated with  $Co^{2+}$  did not change significantly over the exposure period of 72 hr. These data contrast with the substantial drop in TH expression in these cells after 10 hr exposure to hypoxia. A possible explanation for the failure of  $Co^{2+}$  to mimic hypoxia in my studies is that  $Co^{2+}$  might need more time to exert its effect on TH gene expression. For example, a heme protein likely to act as the oxygen sensor may not turn over rapidly (Horiguchi & Bunn, 2000), and the potential action of cobalt on heme biosynthesis and/or function may be slow to develop in MAH cells.

Potential role of  $Ca^{2+}$  channels in O<sub>2</sub>-dependent regulation of TH in MAH cells Does  $Ca^{2+}$  entry through L-type channels regulate hypoxia-induced TH expression in MAH cells? To examine the role of L-type calcium channels in the regulation of TH expression, MAH cells were treated with nifedipine (5  $\mu$ M). Nifedipine reduces substantially hypoxia-evoked catecholamine (CA) secretion from neonatal adrenal chromaffin cells (Thompson et al. 1997; Mochizuki-Oda et al. 1997), indicating that activation of L-type  $Ca^{2+}$  channels normally occurs during the hypoxic response in chromaffin cells. Additionally, it has been recently shown that L-type calcium currents are augmented in MAH cells exposed to chronic hypoxia (Brown et al. 2004). In PC12 cells, nifedipine (40 uM) showed 20% inhibition of the hypoxia-induced increase in TH expression (Raymond et al., 1997). In MAH cells, western blot experiments revealed that nifedipine prevented the hypoxia-induced decrease in TH protein expression seen after ~10 hr exposure. The increase in TH expression seen after  $\sim$ 72 hr exposure to chronic hypoxia still persisted even in the presence of nifedipine. During normoxia, nifedipine did not inhibit TH protein expression. The failure of nifedipine to block the increase in TH expression after 72 hr exposure may be due to the presence of alternative pathways of  $Ca^{2+}$  entry, or the presence of other regulatory mechanisms. Indeed, additional Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry pathways via T-type  $Ca^{2+}$  channels have been reported in MAH cells, and T-type  $Ca^{2+}$  current also appear to be augmented by chronic hypoxia (Brown et al. 2004).

M.Sc. Thesis- J. Liu McMaster- Biology

## **GENERAL CONCLUSION**

This study was undertaken to clarify mechanisms of hypoxia-induced gene regulation in an immortalized  $O_2$ -sensitive cell line, MAH cells. Since MAH cells were derived from rat adrenal medulla, whose oxygen chemoreceptive properties are present in neonatal but not juvenile stages (Thompson *et al.*, 1997; Mozer *et al.* 1997), they would be expected to be an interesting cell line to study  $O_2$ -dependent gene regulation at the molecular level. Moreover, MAH cells were recently shown to be  $O_2$ -sensitive (Fearon *et al.* 2002), and chronic hypoxia can functionally upregulate expression of two different Ca<sup>2+</sup> channel types (L and T) in these cells (Brown *et al.* 2004).

The hypoxia-induced increase in TH expression in MAH cell line after 72 hr exposure was similar to that seen in the PC12 cell line, the carotid body type I cells, perinatal rat adrenal medulla cells, and even some perinatal rat brain neurons. The similarity with perinatal rat adrenal medulla cells suggests that the MAH cell line may be a good substitute for neonatal chromaffin cells for understanding the cellular and molecular mechanisms involved in oxygen sensing and adaptation to chronic hypoxia. However, at short exposure intervals (~10 hr) hypoxia caused a decrease in TH protein expression in MAH cells. It remains to be determined whether this is a unique property of MAH cells or whether it is shared by other chromaffin cell types.

59

Interestingly, TH protein expression in MAH cells treated with  $Co^{2+}$ during normoxia did not change significantly over the time. One possible explanation for the failure of  $Co^{2+}$  to mimic hypoxia is that  $Co^{2+}$  might need more time to exert its effect on TH gene expression in MAH cells, compared to other cell types, e.g. carotid body type I cells and PC12 cells.

Western blotting was used to examine whether  $Ca^{2+}$  entry through L-type channels regulate hypoxia-induced TH expression in MAH cells. These studies that revealed that nifedipine, an L-type  $Ca^{2+}$  channel blocker, prevented the hypoxia-induced decrease in TH protein expression seen during 10 hr of exposure. However, nifedipine did not prevent the increase in TH expression in MAH cells after 72 hr exposure to hypoxia, suggesting that other  $Ca^{2+}$  entry pathways or  $Ca^{2+}$ -independent mechanisms were involved.

In summary, MAH cells may play a significant role in replacing primary cell culture from adrenomedullary tissues as a surrogate model system for examining the molecular and cellular basis of oxygen chemosensitivity and for understanding how O<sub>2</sub>-responsive genes are regulated by hypoxia.

## REFERENCES

Amy L. Bauer, Waltke R. Paulding, Justin B. Striet, Phillip O. Schnell, and Maria F. Czyzyk-krzeska, endogenous von Hippel-Lindau tumor suppressor protein regulates catecholaminergic phenotype in PC12 cells, *Cancer Research*. 2002; **62**, 1682-1687.

Anon. "BCA Protein Assay Reagent," Pierce catalog. 2001.

Anon. "Bio-Rad Protein Assay," Bio-Rad catalog. 2002.

Anon. Immunoblotting (Western Blotting), Life Science, Sigma-Aldrich catalog. 2002.

Beitner-Johnson D, Millhorn DE. Hypoxia induces phosphorylation of the cyclic AMP response element-binding protein by a novel signaling mechanism. *J Biol Chem.* 1998; 273(31):19834-9.

Berridge MJ, Bootman MD, Roderick HL.Calcium signalling: dynamics, homeostasis and remodelling. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 2003; 4(7):517-29.

Birren, S. J. & Anderson, D. J.. A v-myc immortalized sympathoadrenal progenitor cell line in which neuronal differentiation is initiated by FGF but not NGF. *Neuron*. 1990; **4**: 189-201.

Blancher Christine, Harris Adrian L. The molecular basis of the hypoxia response pathway: tumor hypoxia as a therapy target. *Cancer Metastasis Rev.* 1998; 17(2):187-94.

Bootman MD, Collins TJ, Peppiatt CM, Prothero LS, MacKenzie L, De Smet P, Travers M, Tovey SC, Seo JT, Berridge MJ, Ciccolini F, Lipp P. Calcium signalling--an overview. *Semin Cell Dev Biol.* 2001; **12(1)**:3-10.

Bradford, M. A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. *Analytical Biochemistry*. 1976; 72: 248-254.

Brown ST, Johnson RP, Senaratre R, and Fearon IM. Amyloid  $\beta$  peptides mediate physiological remodeling of the acute O<sub>2</sub> sensitivity of adrenomedullary chromaffin cells following chronic hypoxia. *Cardivas. Res.* 2004; 64: 536-543.

Bruick R. K. and McKnight S. L. A conserved family of prolyl-4-hydroxylases that modify HIF. *Science* 2001; **294**: 1337-1340.
Buckler, K.J. and Vaughan-Jones, R.D. Effects of hypoxia on membrane potential and intracellular calcium in rat neonatal carotid body type I cells. *J. Physiol*.1994; **476**: 423-428.

Buckler, K.J. and Vaughan-Jones, R.D. Effects of hypercapnia on membrane potential and intracellular calcium in rat carotid body type I cells. *J. Physiol*. 1994; **478**: 157-171.

Buckler KJ.A novel oxygen-sensitive potassium current in rat carotid body type I cells. *J Physiol.* 1997; **498(3)**:649-662.

Bunn HF & Poyton RO. Oxygen sensing and molecular adaptation to hypoxia. Physiol Rev 1996; 76, 839 885.

Bustin SA. Absolute quantification of mRNA using real-time reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction assays. *J Mol Endocrinol.* 2000; **25(2)**:169-193.

Chandel, N.S., Maltepe, E., Goldwasser, E., Mathieu, C.E., Simon, M.C. and Schumacker, P.T. Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species trigger hypoxia-induced transcription. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA*, 1998; 95: 11715 11720.

Cockman M. E., Masson N., Mole D. R., Jaakkola P., Chang G.-W., Clifford S. C., Maher E. R., Pugh C. W., Ratcliffe P. J. and Maxwell P. H. Hypoxia inducible factor-α binding and ubiquitylation by the von Hippel-Lindau tumor suppressor protein. J. Biol. Chem. 2000; 275: 25733-25741.

Compton, S. J. and Jones, C. G., Mechanism of dye response and interference in the Bradford protein assay. *Anal. Biochem.*, 1985 Dec; **151(2)**, 369-74.

Conforti L & Millhorn DE. Selective inhibition of a slow-inactivating voltagedependent K<sup>+</sup> channel in rat PC12 cells by hypoxia. *J Physiol* 1997; **502**: 293 305.

Conforti L., Kobayashi S. Regulation of gene expression and secretory functions in oxygen-sensing pheochromecytoma cells. *Respiration physiology*. 1999; **115**: 249-260.

Conforti L and Millhorn DE. Selective inhibition of a slow-inactivating voltagedependent K+ channel in rat PC12 cells by hypoxia. *J Physiol*. 1997; **502(2)**: 293-305.

Coupland RE, Tomlinson A. The development and maturation of adrenal medullary chromaffin cells of the rat *in vivo*: a descriptive and quantitative study. *Int J Dev Neurosc.i* 1989; 7:419 438.

Covello KL. and Simon MC.. HIFs, hypoxia, and vascular development, Curr Top Dev Biol. 2004; 62: 37 54.

Czyzyk-Krzeska, M.F., D.A. Bayliss, E.E. Lawson and D.E. Millhorn. Regulation of tyrosine hydroxylase gene expression in carotid body by hypoxia. *J. Neurochem.* 1992; 58: 1538–1546.

Czyzyk-Krzeska M. F., Furnari B. A., Lawson E. E. and Millhorn D. E. Hypoxia increases rate of transcription and stability of tyrosine hydroxylase mRNA in pheochromocytoma (PC12) cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 1994a; **269**: 760-764.

Czyzyk-Krzeska MF, Dominski Z, Kole R, Millhorn DE. Hypoxia stimulates binding of a cytoplasmic protein to a pyrimidine-rich sequence in the 3 untranslated region of rat tyrosine hydroxylase mRNA. *J Biol Chem.* 1994b; **269**: 9940-9945.

Czyzyk-Krzeska Maria. F. Molecular aspects of oxygen sensing in physiological adaptation to hypoxia. *Respiration physiology*. 1997; **110**: 99-111.

Daly, M. de B., Peripheral arterial chemoreceptors and the cardiovascular system. In H. Acker and R.G. O'Regan (Eds.), *Physiology of the Peripheral Arterial Chemoreceptors.* 1983; 325-393. Dann CE, Bruick RK, Deisenhofer J. Structure of factor-inhibiting hypoxiainducible factor 1: An asparaginyl hydroxylase involved in the hypoxic response pathway. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 2002; **99(24)**:15351-15356.

Delpiano MA and Hescheler J. Evidence for a  $PO_2$  sensitive K<sup>+</sup> channel in the type-I cell of the rabbit carotid body. *FEBS Lett* 1989; **249**: 195-198.

Dieffenbach CW, Lowe TMJ, Dveksler GS. General Concepts for PCR Primer Design, in *PCR Primer, A Laboratory Manual*, Dieffenbach, C.W, and Dveksler, G.S., Ed., *Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press*, New York, 1995; 133-155.

Elkins JM, Hewitson KS, McNeill LA, Seibel JF, Schlemminger I, Pugh CW, Ratcliffe PJ, Schofield CJ. Structure of factor-inhibiting hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF) reveals mechanism of oxidative modification of HIF-1 alpha. *J Biol Chem.* 2003; **278(3)**:1802-1806.

Eyzaguirre C, and Zapata P. Perspectives in carotid body research. J. Appl. Physiol. 1984; 57: 931-957.

Fearon IM, Thompson RJ, Samjoo I, Vollmer C, Doering LC, and Nurse CA.  $O_2$ sensitive K<sup>+</sup> channels in immortalized rat chromaffin-cell-derived MAH cells. *J Physiol*. 2002; **545**: 807 818. Flatmark T. Catecholamine biosynthesis and physiological regulation in neuroendocrine cells. *Acta Physiol Scand* 2000; **168**: 1 47.

Fidone SJ, Gonzalez C, Yoshizaki K. Effects of low oxygen on the release of dopamine from the rabbit carotid body in vitro. *J Physiol* 1982; **333**:93-110.

Ganfornina MD, Perez-Garcia MT, Gutierrez G, Miguel-Velado E, Lopez-Lopez JR, Marin A, Sanchez D, Gonzalez C. Comparative gene expression profile of mouse carotid body and adrenal medulla under physiological hypoxia. *J Physiol.* 2005.

Gonzalez C, Kwok Y, Gibb J, Fidone S. Effects of hypoxia on tyrosine hydrylase activity in rat carotid body. *J Neurochem.* 1979; **33**: 713-719.

Gonzalez C, Almaraz L, Obeso A, and Rigual R. Oxygen and acid chemoreception in the carotid body chemoreceptors. *Trends Neurochem. Sci.* 1992; 15: 146-153.

Gonzalez C, Almaraz L, Obeso A, Rigual R. Carotid body chemoreceptors: from natural stimuli to sensory discharges. *Physiol Rev.* 1994; 74(4):829-898.

Goldberg MA, Glass GA, Cunningham JM, Bunn HF. The regulated expression of erythropoietin by two human hepatoma cell lines. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci. USA* 1987; 84: 7972-7976.

Goldberg MA, Dunning SP, Bunn HF. Regulation of the erythropoietin gene: evidence that the oxygen sensor is a heme protein. *Science*. 1988; **242(4884)**:1412-1415.

Gozal E, Shah AZ, Pequignot JM, Pequignot J, Sachleben LR, Czyzyk- Krzeska MF, Li RC, Guo SZ, and Gozal D. Tyrosine hydroxylase expression and activity in the rat brain: differential regulation after long-term intermittent or sustained hypoxia. *J Appl Physiol* 2005; **99:** 642–649.

Green L.A.and A.S. Tischler. PC12 pheochromocytoma cultures in neurobiological research. *Adv. Cell. Neurobiol.* 1987; **3**: 373–414.

Green, KN, Taylor, SC, Smith, IF, Peers, C. Differential coupling of voltage-gated  $Ca^{2+}$  channels to catecholamine secretion from separate PC12 cell batches. *Neuroscience Letters* .2001; **301**: 13-16.

Gregg L. Semenza. HIF-1: mediator of physiological and pathophysiological responses to hypoxia. *J Appl Physiol*. 2000; **88**: 1474-1480.

Guichun Wang, Tapas K. Hazra, Sankar Mitra, Heung-Man Lee and Ella W. Englander. Mitochondrial DNA damage and a hypoxic response are induced by CoCl<sub>2</sub> in rat neuronal PC12 cells. *Nucleic Acids Research*. 2000; **28(10)**: 2135-2140.

Haddad GG, Jiang C. O2-sensing mechanisms in excitable cells: role of plasma membrane K+ channels. *Annu Rev Physiol*. 1997; **59**:23-42.

Hawort, E & Patterson, P.H. Long-term culture of dissociated sympathetic neurons. Methods in Enzymology 1979; 58: 574-584.

Hatton CJ, Carpenter E, Pepper DR, Kumar P, Peers C. Developmental changes in isolated rat type I carotid body cell K+ currents and their modulation by hypoxia. *J Physiol.* 1997; **501 (1)**:49-58.

Helfman T. & Falanga V. Gene expression in low oxygen tension. Am. J. Med. Sci. 1993; **306**: 37 41.

Hohler, B., Lange, B., Holzapfel, B., Goldenberg, A., Hanze, J., Sell, A., Testan, H., Moller, W. and Kummer, W. Hypoxic upregulation of tyrosine hydroxylase gene expression is paralleled, but not induced, by increased generation of reactive oxygen species in PC12 cells. *FEBS Lett.* 1999; **457**: 53 56.

Holgert H, Pequignot JM, Lagercrantz H, and Hokfelt T. Birth-related up-regulation of mRNA encoding tyrosine hydroxylase, dopamine beta-hydroxylase, neuropeptide tyrosine, and prepro-enkephalin in rat adrenal medulla is dependent on postnatal oxygenation. *Pediatr. Res.* 1995; **37(6):** 701-706.

Huang LE, GU J, Schau M, and Bunn HF. Regulation of hypoxia-inducible factor 1 is mediated by an O<sub>2</sub>-dependent degradation domain via the ubiquitin-proteasome pathyway. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1998; **95**: 7987-7992.

Innis, M.A., and Gelfand, D.H., Optimization of PCRs. PCR protocols, A Guide to Methods and Applications. CRC Press, London, 1994; 5-11.

Ivan M., Kondo K., Yang H., Kim W., Valiando J., Ohh M., Salic A., Asara J. M., Lane W. S. and Kaelin W. G. Jr. HIF-alpha targeted for VHL-mediated destruction by proline hydroxylation: implications for O<sub>2</sub> sensing. *Science* 2001; **292**: 464-468.

Iyer NV, Kotch LE, Agani F, Leung SW, Laughner E, Wenger RH, Gassmann M, Gearhart JD, Lawler AM, Yu AY, Semenza GL. Cellular and developmental control of O2 homeostasis by hypoxia-inducible factor 1 alpha. *Genes Dev.* 1998; **12(2)**:149-62.

Jiang BH, Zheng JZ, Leung SW, Roe R, Semenza GL. Transactivation and inhibitory domains of hypoxia-inducible factor lalpha. Modulation of transcriptional activity by oxygen tension. *J Biol Chem.* 1997; 272(31):19253-19260.

Kaelin WG Jr. The von Hippel-Lindau protein, HIF hydroxylation, and oxygen sensing. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2005 Sep 6.

Kadiiska MB., Maples KR., and Mason RP. A comparison of cobalt and iron hydroxyl and superoxide free radical formation. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 1989; 275: 98-111.

Keating DJ, Rychkov GY, Roberts ML. Oxygen sensitivity in the sheep adrenal medulla: role of SK channels. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*. 2001; **281(5)**:C1434-1441.

Kilbourne EJ, Nankova BB, Lewis EJ, Mcmahon A, Osaka H, Sabban DB, Sabban EL. Regulated expression of the tyrosine hydroxylase gene by membrane depolarization. *J. Biol Chem.* 1992; **267**: 7563-7569.

Kroll, L., Paulding, W. R., Schnell, P. O., Barton, M. C., Conaway, J. W., Conaway, R. C. and Czyzyk-Krzeska, M. F. Von Hippel Lindau protein induces hypoxiaregulated arrest of tyrosine hydroxylase transcript elongation in pheocromocytoma cells. *J. Biol. Chem.*, 1999; **274**:30109-30114.

Kwok, S., Kellog, D.E. McKinney, N., Spasic, D., Goda, L., Levenson, C., and Sninsky, J.J. Effects of primer-template mismatches on the polymerase chain reaction: Human Immunodeficiency Virus 1 model studies. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 1990; 18: 999-1005.

Lagercrantz H, Slotkin TA. The "stress" of being born. Sci Am. 1986; 254(4):100-107.

Lahiri S, Roy A, Baby SM, Hoshi T, Semenza GL, Prabhakar NR. Oxygen sensing in the body. *Prog Biophys Mol Biol.* 2005 Aug 30.

Lopez-Barneo J, Lopez-Lopez JR, Urena J, Gonzalez C. Chemotransduction in the carotid body: K+ current modulated by PO2 in type I chemoreceptor cells. *Science*. 1988; 241(4865):580-582.

Lopez-Barneo J. Oxygen-sensing by ion channels and the regulation of cellular functions. *Trends Neurosci.* 1996; **19(10)**:435-440.

Lopez-Barneo J, Pardal R, Ortega-Saenz P. Cellular mechanism of oxygen sensing. Annu Rev Physiol. 2001; 63: 259-287.

Mahon PC, Hirota K, Semenza GL. FIH-1: a novel protein that interacts with HIFlalpha and VHL to mediate repression of HIF-1 transcriptional activity. *Genes Dev.* 2001; **15(20)**:2675-2686.

Mamet J, Peyronnet J, Roux JC, Perrin D, Cottet-Emard JM, Pequignot JM, Lagercrantz H, Dalmaz Y. Long-term prenatal hypoxia alters maturation of adrenal medulla in rat. *Pediatr Res.* 2002; **51(2):**207-14.

McPherson MJ., Quirke P. and Taylor GR., PCR: a practical approach. Oxford University Press. 1991.

Millhorn DE, Raymond R, Conforti L, Zhu W, Beitner-Johnson D, Filisko T, Genter MB, Kobayashi S, and Peng M. Regulation of gene for tyrosine hydroxylase in oxygen sensitive cells by hypoxia. *Kidney International*. 1997; **51**: 527-535.

Mochizuki-Oda N, Takeuchi Y, Matsumura K, Oosawa Y and Watanabe Y. Hypoxia-induced catecholamine release and intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  increase via suppression of K<sup>+</sup> channels in cultured rat adrenal chromaffin cells. *J. Neurochem.* 1997; **69**: 377-387.

Norris ML, Millhorn DE. Hypoxia-induced protein binding to O<sub>2</sub>-responsive sequences on the tyrosine hydroxylase gene. *J. Biol Chem.* 1995; **270**: 23774-23779.

Nurse CA, Fearon I, Jackson A, and Thompson R. Oxygen sensing by neonatal adrenal chromaffin cells: A role for mitochondria? *Oxygen Sensing: Responses and adaptation to hypoxia.* Marcel Dekker Inc. 2003; **32:** 603-618.

Olson J, Vidruk EB, and Dempsey JA. Carotid body excision significantly changes ventilatory control in awake rats, *J. Appl. Physiol*.1988; 64: 666-671.

Oomori Y, Okuno S, Fuisiwa H, Iuchi H, Ishikawa K, Satoh Y, Ono K. Ganglion cells immunoreactive for catecholamine-synthesizing enzymes, neuropeptides Y and vasoactive intestinal polypeptide in the rat adrenal gland. *Cell Tissue Res.* 1994; **275:** 201 213.

Paulding WR, Czyzyk-Krzeska MF. Hypoxia-induced regulation of mRNA stability. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* 2000; **475**:111-121.

Paulding WR, Schnell PO, Bauer AL, Striet JB, Nash JA, Kuznetsova AV, Czyzyk-Krzeska MF.Regulation of gene expression for neurotransmitters during adaptation to hypoxia in oxygen-sensitive neuroendocrine cells. *Microsc Res Tech.* 2002; **59(3)**:178-187.

Peers C. Hypoxic suppression of K+ currents in type I carotid body cells: selective effect on the Ca2(+)-activated K+ current. *Neurosci Lett.* 1990; **119(2)**:253-256.

Peers C. Oxygen-sensitive ion channels. *Trends Pharmacol Sci.* 1997; **18(11)**:405-408.

Pekka J. Kalloi, William J.Wilson. Regulation of the hypoxia-inducible transcription factor 1a by the biquitin-proteasome pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 1999; 270: 6519-6525.

Perez-Garcia MT, Almaraz L, Gonzales C. Cyclic AMP modulates differentially the release of dopamine induced by hypoxia and other stimuli and increased dopamine synthesis in rabbit carotid body. *J. neurochem.* 1991; **57**: 1992-2000.

Perez-Garcia MT, Colinas O, Miguel-Velado E, Moreno-Dominguez A, Lopez-Lopez JR. Characterization of the Kv channels of mouse carotid body chemoreceptor cells and their role in oxygen sensing. *J Physiol.* 2004; **557(2)**:457-71.

Peyronnet J., Roux J. C., Géloën A. L., Tang Q., Pequignot J. M., Lagercrantz H. and Dalmaz Y. Prenatal hypoxia impairs the postnatal development of neural and

functional chemoafferent pathway in rat. *The Journal of Physiology*. 2000; **524(2)**: 525-537.

Phillip O. Schnell, Monika L. Ignacak, Amy L. Bauer, Justin B. Striet, Waltke R. Paulding and Maria F. Czyzyk-Krzeska. Regulation of tyrosine hydroxylase promoter activity by the von Hippel-Lindau tumor suppressor protein and hypoxia-inducible transcription factors. *Journal of Neurochemistry*. 2003; **85**, 483-491.

Prabhakar NR, Overholt JL. Cellular mechanisms of oxygen sensing at the carotid body: heme proteins and ion channels. *Respir Physiol.* 2000; **122(2-3)**: 209-221.

Prabhakar NR. Oxygen sensing by the carotid body chemoreceptors. *J Appl Physiol*. 2000; **88(6):**2287-95.

Quinsey NS, Lenaghan CM, and Dickson PW. Identification of Gln313 and Pro327 as residues critical for substrate inhibition of tyrosine hydroxylase. *J Neurochem* 1996; **66**: 908 914.

Raquel Del Toro, Konstantin L. Levitsky, José López-Barneo and María D. Chiara. Induction of T-type Calcium Channel Gene Expression by Chronic Hypoxia. *J. Biol. Chem.* 2003; **278(25)**: 22316-22324. Ratcliffe PJ, O'Rourke JF, Maxwell PH, Pugh CW. Oxygen sensing, hypoxiainducible factor-1 and the regulation of mammalian gene expression. *J Exp Biol.* 1998; **201(8)**:1153-1162.

Raymond R, Millhorn D. Regulation of tyrosine hydroxylase gene expression during hypoxia: role of Ca2+ and PKC. *Kidney Int.* 1997; **51(2)**:536-541.

Reisner, A. H., Nemes, P. and Bucholtz, C. The use of Coomassie Brilliant Blue G250 perchloric acid solution for staining in electrophoresis and isoelectric focusing on polyacrylamide gels. Abstract, *Anal. Biochem.*, 1975; **64(2)**, 509-516.

Rybicki E.P., Maud Purves. Enzyme-assisted immunoelectroblotting (IBE or western blotting). *Molecular Biology Techniques Manual*. Third Edition. 1996.

Saiki R., PCR. Science. 1985; 230, 1350.

Sabban EL. Conrol of tyrosine hydroxylase gene expression in chromaffin and PC12 cells. Semin Cell Dev. 1997; 8: 101-111.

Sambrook. Molecular Cloning. A Laboratory Manual, 2nd ed. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor, NY, 1989. Sandra L., Kroll and Maria F. Czyzyk-Krzeska. Role of  $H_2O_2$  and heme-containing  $O_2$  sensors in hypoxic regulation of tyrosine hydroxylase gene expression. Am J *Physiol.* 1998 Jan; **274**: C167-174.

Schnell PO, Ignacak ML, Bauer AL, Striet JB, Paulding WR, Czyzyk-Krzeska MF.Regulation of tyrosine hydroxylase promoter activity by the von Hippel-Lindau tumor suppressor protein and hypoxia-inducible transcription factors. *J Neurochem.* 2003; **85(2)**:483-491.

Schofield CJ, Ratcliffe PJ. Oxygen sensing by HIF hydroxylases. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 2004; **5(5)**: 343-354.

Schofield CJ, Ratcliffe PJ. Signalling hypoxia by HIF hydroxylases. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2005 Aug 30.

Sedmack, J.J. and Grossberg, S. E., A rapid, sensitive, and versatile assay for protein using Coomassie brilliant blue G250. Abstract *Anal. Biochem.*, 1977; **79(1-2)**: 544.

Semenza GL, Wang GL. A nuclear factor induced by hypoxia via de novo protein synthesis binds to the human erythropoietin gene enhancer at a site required for transcriptional activation. *Mol Cell Biol.* 1992; **12(12)**:5447-5454.

Semenza GL, Jiang BH, Leung SW, Passantino R, Concordet JP, Maire P, Giallongo A. Hypoxia response elements in the aldolase A, enolase 1, and lactate dehydrogenase A gene promoters contain essential binding sites for hypoxia-inducible factor 1. *J Biol Chem.*; 1996; **271**: 32529 32537.

Seidler FJ, Slotkin TA. Adrenomedullary function in the neonatal rat: responses to acute hypoxia. *J Physiol.* 1985; **358:** 1-16.

Semenza GL, Wang GL. A nuclear factor induced by hypoxia via de novo protein synthesis binds to the human erythropoietin gene enhancer at a site required for transcriptional activation. *Mol Cell Biol.* 1992; **12(12)**:5447-5454.

Semenza GL, Jiang BH, Leung SW, Passantino R, Concordet JP, Maire P, Giallongo A. Hypoxia response elements in the aldolase A, enolase 1, and lactate dehydrogenase A gene promoters contain essential binding sites for hypoxia-inducible factor 1. *J Biol Chem.* 1996; 271(51):32529-32537.

Semenza GL. Expression of hypoxia-inducible factor 1: mechanisms and consequences. *Biochem Pharmacol.*, 2000; **59**: 47–53.

Semenza GL. HIF-1 and mechanisms of hypoxia sensing. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 2001; 13(2):167-171.

Semenza GL. HIF-1, O(2), and the 3 PHDs: how animal cells signal hypoxia to the nucleus. *Cell*. 2001; **107(1)**:1-3.

Semenza GL. Targeting HIF-1 for cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer*. 2003; **3(10)**:721-732.

Sharrocks, AD. The design of primers for PCR. PCR Technology, Current Innovations, CRC Press, London, 1994; 5-11.

Shirahata M, Fitzgerald R. Dependency of hypoxic chemotransduction in cat carotid body on voltage-gated calcium channels. J. App Physiol. 1991; 71: 1062-1069.

Shih Shu-Ching & Claffey KP. Hypoxia-mediated regulation of gene expression in mammalian cells. *Int. J. path.* 1998; **79**: 347-357.

Slotkin TA, Seidler FJ. Adrenomedullary catecholamine release in the fetus and newborn: secretory mechanisms and their role in stress and survival. *J Dev Physiol.* 1988; 10(1):1-16.

Srinivas V, Zhang LP, Zhu XH, and Caro J. Characterizaiton of an ocygen/redoxdependent degradation of hypoxia-inducible factor  $\alpha$  (HIF- $\alpha$ ) proteins. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 1999; **260**: 557-561.

Sterni LM, Bamford OS, Tomares SM, Montrose MH, and Carroll JL. Developmental changes in intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  response of carotid chemorecepter cells to hypoxia. *Am. J. Physiol.* 1995; **268:** L801-L808.

Stokes AH, Hastings TG, and Vrana KE. Cytotoxic and genotoxic potential of dopamine. *J Neurosci Res.* 1999; 55: 659–665.

Tatsumi K., Pickett C., and Weol J. Decreased carotid body sensitivity in chronic hypoxia: role of dopamine. *Respir. Physiol.* 1995; **101**: 47-57.

Thompson RJ, Jackson A, Nurse CA. Developmental loss of hypoxic chemosensitivity in rat adrenomedullary chromaffin cells. *J Physiol.* 1997; **498 (2)**: 503-510.

Thompson RJ, and Nurse CA. Anoxia differentially modulates multiple K<sup>+</sup> currents and depolarizes neonatal rat adrenal chromaffin cells. *J. Physiol.* 1998; **512**: 421-434. Thompson RJ, Farragher SM, Cutzs E, and Nurse CA. Developmental regulation of O<sub>2</sub> sensing in neonatal adrenal chromaffin cells from wild-type and NADPH-oxidase-deficient mice. *Eur. J. Physiol.* 2002; 444: 539-548.

Tomlinson A, and Coupland RE. The innervation of the adrenal gland. IV. Innervation of the rat adrenal medulla from birth to old age. A descriptive and quantitative morphometric and biochemical study of the innervation of chromaffin cells and adrenal medullary neurons in Wistar rats. *J Anat* 1990; **169**:209 236.

Vandenbergh DJ, Mori N, and Anderson DJ. Co-expression of multiple neurotransmitter enzyme genes in normal and immortalized sympathoadrenal progenitor cells. *Developmental Biology*. 1991; **148**: 10-22.

Waltker R. Paulding. Regulation of tyrosine hydroxylase mRNA stability by protein-binding, pyrimidine-rich sequence in the 3 -untranslated region. *J. Biol. Chem.* 1999; **274**: 2532-2538.

Waltker R. Paulding, Phillip O. Schnell. Regulation of gene expression for Neurotransmitters during adaptation to hypoxia in oxygen-sensitive neuroendocrine cells. *Microscopy Research and Technique*. 2002; **59**: 178-187.

Wang GL, Semenza GL. Desferrioxamine induces erythropoietin gene expression and hypoxia-inducible factor 1 DNA-binding activity: implications for models of hypoxia signal transduction. *Blood.* 1993; **82(12)**:3610-3615.

Wang GL, Semenza GL. Purification and characterization of hypoxia-inducible factor 1. *J Biol Chem.* 1995a; 270(3):1230-1237.

Wang GL., Jiang B.H., Rue E.A., Semenza G.L.. Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 is a basic-helix-loop-helix-PAS heterodimer regulated by cellular O2 tension. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 1995b; **92**: 5510-5514.

Zhu H and Bunn F. Oxygen sensing and signaling: impact on the regulation of physiologically important genes. *Respir Physiol*. 1999; 115: 239-247.

Zhu WH, Conforti L, Millhorn DE. Excitation-secretion in PC12 cells during hypoxia. *Soc Neurosci* 1995; **21**:65a.

Zhu W.H., L. Conforti, M.F. Czyzyk-Krzeska and D.E. Millhorn. Membrane depolarization in PC12 cells during hypoxia is regulated by an  $O_2$ -sensitive K<sup>+</sup> current. *Am. J. Physiol.* 1996; **271**: C658 C665.

Yuan Y, Hilliard G, Ferguson T, Millhorn DE. Cobalt inhibits the interaction between hypoxia-inducible factor-alpha and von Hippel-Lindau protein by direct binding to hypoxia-inducible factor-alpha. *J Biol Chem.* 2003; 278(18):15911-6.

## **APPENDIX I**

#### HIF-1a mRNA GENE EXPRESSION IN MAH CELLS

#### SUMMARY

In this study, hypoxia-inducible factor- $1\alpha$  (HIF- $1\alpha$ ) mRNA gene expression during both hypoxia and normoxia was investigated in MAH cells. The results showed that in MAH cells HIF- $1\alpha$  was stable under both hypoxic and normoxic conditions at the mRNA level.

#### **INDRODUCTION**

During the past decade, there have been a growing number of reports on hypoxia-induced transcription of specific genes, in which HIF-1 $\alpha$  has been considered instrumental in the oxygen-dependent regulation of these genes. At the protein level, the HIF-1 $\alpha$  subunit is subjected to oxygen-dependent ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation (Semenza, 2001). Hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF) is regulated by two oxygen-dependent events that are catalyzed by the HIF prolyl 4-hydroxylases (HIF-P4Hs) and HIF asparaginyl hydroxylase (FIH).

The importance of HIF-1 $\alpha$  in the induction of the complex response to hypoxia in PC12 cells and carotid body type I cells has been well studied (Czyzyk-Krzeska, 1997). In this study, I was interested in investigating HIF-1 $\alpha$  gene expression at the mRNA level in MAH cells during both hypoxia and normoxia.

Preliminary attempts to detect the anticipated upregulation of HIF-1 $\alpha$  protein expression during hypoxia using Western Blotting were unsuccessful.

#### **METHODS**

#### 1. Materials

Chemicals and reagents for RT-PCR and Western Blot were of reagent grade and purchased from commercial suppliers as mentioned in Chapter 2. The specific primers of HIF-1 $\alpha$  were synthesized by Mobix Lab (McMaster University, Hamilton). Mouse anti-HIF-1 $\alpha$  monoclonal antibody was purchased from Novus Biologicals.

#### 2. Cell culture

For experiments requiring chronic exposures, MAH cells were exposed to either normoxia (20% O<sub>2</sub>, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, remainder N<sub>2</sub>, 37°C) or hypoxia (5% O<sub>2</sub>, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, remainder N<sub>2</sub>, 37°C) in an O<sub>2</sub>- regulated incubator for 16 hours.

#### 3. RT-PCR for HIF-1a mRNA expression analysis

The two-step RT-PCR method was used. Total RNA was isolated from normoxic and hypoxic MAH cell cultures. The primers used in this study were HIF- $1\alpha$  (F: 5-GGGAAAGAACAAAACACGCA-3; R: 5-TCACAAATCAGCACCAGGCA-3) and and  $\beta$ -actin (F: 5-GAGGGAAATCGTGCGTGA-3; R: 5-ATCTGCTGGAAGGTGGACA-3) (See

## Table I.1 List of primers sequences of hypoxia-inducible factor-1 $\alpha$ and $\beta$ -actin

| Target  | Primer Sequence<br>(5' to 3')                      | The region<br>spanned in<br>the gene | Target<br>Sequence<br>Length(bp) | GenBank<br>Accession<br>Number |
|---------|--|--------------------------------------|----------------------------------|--------------------------------|
| HIF-1a  | F: GGGAAAGAACAAAACACGCA<br>R: TCACAAATCAGCACCAGGCA | 498-700                              | 203                              | AF057308                       |
| β-actin | F: GAGGGAAATCGTGCGTGA<br>R: ATCTGCTGGAAGGTGGACA    | 615-1064                             | 450                              | NM_031144                      |

...

.

table I.1 for details). The sequencing result was analyzed by BLAST, NIH computer software, for gene sequences identification. GenBank accession numbers of *Rattus nonvegicus* mRNA coding HIF-1 $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ -actin were AF057308 and AF057308.

#### 4. Western blot for HIF-1a protein expression analysis

MAH cells were exposed to hypoxia (1%  $O_2$ , 5%  $CO_2$ , remainder  $N_2$ ) for 16 hr and normoxia (20%  $O_2$ , 5%  $CO_2$ , remainder  $N_2$ ) before the cell homogenates were analyzed by western blotting for investigating the regulation of HIF-1 $\alpha$  protein expression during hypoxia. HIF-1 $\alpha$  mouse monoclonal antibody (1: 500, Novus Biologicals, Littleton, CO) and mouse anti- $\beta$ -actin antibody (1: 5000, Chemicon Inc.) were used as primary antibodies. Polyclonal anti-mouse IgG (HRP conjugated) was used as secondary antibody and was incubated for 1 hour at room temperature. Samples containing 2.5 µg protein were electrophoresed and separated on 7% SDSpolyacrylamide gels.

#### RESULTS

#### 1. Expression of HIF-1a mRNA in normoxia and hypoxia in MAH cells

RT-PCR was used to study HIF-1 $\alpha$  mRNA in MAH cells exposed to either hypoxia (1% O<sub>2</sub>, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, remainder N<sub>2</sub>) or to normoxia (20% O<sub>2</sub>, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, remainder N<sub>2</sub>) for 16 hr. The results showed MAH cells expressed HIF-1 $\alpha$  mRNAs both under both conditions (Figure I.1).

Figure I.1 Expression of HIF-1 $\alpha$  mRNA during normoxia and hypoxia in MAH cells. Total RNA for RT-PCR was extracted from MAH cells exposed to either hypoxia (16 hours; 1% O<sub>2</sub>, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, remainder N<sub>2</sub>) or to normoxia (16 hours; 20% O<sub>2</sub>, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, remainder N<sub>2</sub>). Expected PCR product size is 203 bp. In negative control lane (-) (PCR reaction without RT) no PCR products were observed. The brightest band in the top of the 100bp ladder lane is 600 bp in size. PCR products were separated with ethidium bromide-stained 1% agarose gels and were visualized by ultraviolet illumination. The templates used for amplifying  $\beta$ -actin were same as those used for HIF-l $\alpha$ .  $\beta$ -actin PCR product size is 450 bp.





#### 2. Western blotting analysis for HIF-1a protein expression during hypoxia

Samples containing 2.5  $\mu$ g protein were used in lanes, but there was no signal detected. The same result occurred in  $\beta$ -actin protein blotting. The reason might be the small amount of protein in the samples used for each blot. In future experiments it is proposed that a larger amount of protein in each sample should be used for detection of HIF-1 $\alpha$  protein.

## **APPENDIX II**

#### I. Buffers and solutions used in this study

## Lysis Buffer

| Final conc.           | per 100ml | Stock |
|-----------------------|-----------|-------|
| 0.15 M NaCl           | 15ml      | 1 M   |
| 5mM EDTA, PH 8.0      | 5ml       | 1 M   |
| 10ml Tris-C l, PH 7.4 | 10ml      | 0.1 M |
| 1%SDS                 | 5ml       |       |
| 1% Triton X100 (v/v)  | 1ml       |       |
| ddH <sub>2</sub> O    | 64ml      |       |

## 2X Sample Buffer

| Final conc.            | per 100ml    | Stock |
|------------------------|--------------|-------|
| 130mM Tris-Cl, PH 8.0  | 13ml         | 1M    |
| 20% (v/v) Glycerol     | 20ml         |       |
| 4.6% SDS               | 4.6g         |       |
| 0.02% bromophenol blue | 0.02g        |       |
| 2% (w/v) DTT           | 2g           |       |
| ddH <sub>2</sub> O     | add to 100ml |       |

## **10X Running Buffer**

| Final conc.     |  |
|-----------------|--|
| 0.25M Tris-base |  |
| 1.92M Glycine   |  |
| 1% SDS          |  |
| ddH2O           |  |

per 1L 30.3g 144g 10g add to 1L

#### **10X Transfer Buffer**

Final conc. 0.25M Tris-base 1.92M Glycine 0.1% SDS PH should be 8.3. per 1L 30.3g 144g 0.1g

## **1X Blocking Buffer**

Final conc. 5% non-fat milk powder 0.1% TBS-T per 100ml 5g add to 100ml

### **10X Washing Buffer**

| Final conc.                | per 1L     |
|----------------------------|------------|
| 10mM Tris-Cl PH7.5         | 12.1g      |
| 100mM NaCl                 | 58.4g      |
| 0.1% Tween-20              | add later  |
| Autoclave H <sub>2</sub> O | add ~ 0.9L |

#### **10% Running Gel Solution**

| 15M Tris-Cl, PH 8.8                      | 12.3ml |
|--|--------|
| 20% (w/v) SDS                            | 150µl  |
| Acrylamide/Bis-acrylamide (30% 0.8% w/v) | 9.9ml  |
| 10% (w/v) ammonium persulfate (APS)      | 150µl  |
| TEMED                                    | 20µ    |
| ddH <sub>2</sub> O                       | 12.3ml |

## 4% Stacking Gel Solution

| Stock                                    | per gel |
|--|---------|
| 0.5M Tris-Cl, PH 6.8                     | 1.25ml  |
| 20% (w/v) SDS                            | 25µl    |
| Acrylamide/Bis-acrylamide (30% 0.8% w/v) | 670µl   |
| 10% (w/v) ammonium persulfate (APS)      | 25µl    |
| TEMED                                    | 5µl     |
| ddH <sub>2</sub> O                       | 3.075ml |

Note: All chemicals used here were reagent grade.

#### **II. Western blotting protocol**

- 1. Made 10% SDS gel (6cm X 8cm, 1.5mm gel thick) for TH;
- 2. Made samples melted and vortex samples when adding same volume of sample buffer (1 quota of 1 fold SB, Appendix I) in each tube of samples;
- Boiled samples at 100°C (water bath) for ~ 5 minutes and then left them cool down at room temperature for 2 minutes prior to loading gel. Spun down quickly;

- 4. Set up SDS-PAGE gel system and loaded samples in corresponding orders;
- Ran gel with constant current for about 1.5 hours (110 volts for stocking gel and 130 volts for running gel);
- 6. Cut 0.45µm PVDF and filter papers (polyvinylidine difluoride) with the same size as the gel and prepared sponges in transfer buffer (stored at 4 °C, see Appendix I) ready in the meantime;
- Soaked PVDF membranes in methanol completely for 3~5 minutes and washed them in transfer buffer on a platform shaker for 10~20 minutes until ready to use;
- 8. Soaked electrophoresed gel in transfer buffer for  $\sim 5$  minutes as step 7;
- 9. Set up electrotransfer system;
- Transferred proteins from gel onto PVDF membrane for 3 hours at 300mA in transfer buffer at 4°C;
- 11. Dismounted PVDF membrane and marked each lane according to each well of gel and rinsed quickly with washing buffer;
- Prepared 1X 5% blocking buffer (5g non-fat milk powder in 0.1% TBS-T solution);
- 13. Incubated blot in 25ml blocking buffer for 1 hour at RT on a platform shaker;
- 14. Prepared 1° antibody: Mouse anti-tyrosine hydroxylase (1:1000 diluted with blocking buffer), from Chemicon Inc. (CAT NO: MAB-5280);
- 15. Added the  $1^{\circ}$  antibody to blot and incubated for  $1 \sim 2$  hour at RT;

- 16. Washed 3 times for 10 minutes each time with TBS-T washing buffer;
- Prepared 2° antibody: Polyclonal anti-mouse IgG (HRP conjugated)
  (1:10,000 dilution), from Chemicon Inc. (CAT NO: MAB-5280);
- 18. Incubated blot in  $2^{\circ}$  antibody for 1 hour at RT with slow rotating;
- 19. Washed 3 times for 10 minutes each time with TBS-T washing buffer;
- 20. Added ECL western blotting detection reagents exactly for 1 minute and wrapped membrane with Anchor WRAP ( blot should never dry out completely);
- 21. Assembled the membrane into the autoradiography cassette and kept out of light;
- Exposed membrane to Kodak Biomax Xar films (Eastman Kodak company Rochester, USA) for 10 ~ 50 seconds at dark room;
- 23. Developed film in an X-ray film development machine.

### **APPENDIX III**

# I. Determination of protein concentrations of homogenates for time course study of TH protein expression

After all the MAH cells were homogenized, protein concentration of each homogenized sample was measured based on Bradford assay using a protein assay dye reagent concentrate (Bio-Rad Laboratories). A bovine serum albumin (BSA) standard curve (from 0 to 25  $\mu$ g/ml) (Figure III.1) shows one of standard curves made for protein quantification was used to define each sample in the right range and to calculate concentration of each sample.

There are 7 groups or 35 samples tested for concentrations of protein. Table III.1 shows protein concentrations, amount of protein needed and loading volume of each sample per well in gel (table III.1).

# II. Determination of protein concentrations of homogenates for study of effect of cobalt and nifedipine in TH expression

Bovine serum albumin (BSA) standard curves (from 0 to 25µg/ml) (Figure III. 2) shows one of standard curves made for protein quantification were used to calculate protein concentrations.

There are 70 samples/2 groups tested for concentrations of protein. Tables show protein concentration, amount of protein needed and loading volume per well in gel (table III.2 and table III.3).



Figure III. 1. BSA standard curve (R<sup>2</sup>=0.9985>0.95) for time course study of TH protein expression.

Table III.1 Seven-group samples tested for concentrations of protein for time course study of TH protein expression. C Nox (1-5) are samples of MAH cells exposed to 20%  $O_2$  as controls. Hox10h, Hox24h, Hox34h, Hox48h, Hox58h, Hox72h (1-5) represent the samples of MAH cells exposed to 5%  $O_2$  for 10, 24, 34, 48, 58, 72 hours, respectively. \* indicates that the amount of each sample is for each well of a gel.

|           |               | * Amount of    |                    |
|-----------|---------------|----------------|--------------------|
| Sample of | Protein Conc. | protein needed | * Amount of sample |
| MAH cells | (mg/ml)       | (µg)           | (µl)               |
| C Nox 1   | 0.81          | 2              | 2.5                |
| C Nox 2   | 1.01          | 2              | 2.0                |
| C Nox 3   | 0.65          | 2              | 3.1                |
| C Nox 4   | 0.11          | 2              | 17.5               |
| C Nox 5   | 0.17          | 2              | 11.7               |
| Hox10h 1  | 1.14          | 2              | 1.8                |
| Hox10h 2  | 1.19          | 2              | 1.7                |
| Hox10h 3  | 0.11          | 2              | 17.5               |
| Hox10h 4  | 0.12          | 2              | 14.9               |
| Hox10h 5  | 0.18          | 2              | 17.0               |
| Hox24h 1  | 0.36          | 2              | 5.6                |
| Hox24h 2  | 1.17          | 2              | 1.7                |
| Hox24h 3  | 0.53          | 2              | 3.8                |
| Hox24h 4  | 0.14          | 2              | 14.7               |
| Hox24h 5  | 0.18          | 2              | 11.4               |
| Hox34h 1  | 0.35          | 2              | 5.7                |
| Hox34h 2  | 1.35          | 2              | 1.5                |
| Hox34h 3  | 0.97          | 2              | 2.1                |
| Hox34h 4  | 0.25          | 2              | 8.1                |
| Hox34h 5  | 0.18          | 2              | 11.4               |
| Hox48h 1  | 0.64          | 2              | 3.1                |
| Hox48h 2  | 1.30          | 2              | 1.5                |
| Hox48h 3  | 1.40          | 2              | 1.4                |
| Hox48h 4  | 0.56          | 2              | 3.6                |
| Hox48h 5  | 0.60          | 2              | 3.3                |
| Hox58h 1  | 0.27          | 2              | 7.3                |
| Hox58h 2  | 0.91          | 2              | 2.2                |
| Hox58h 3  | 0.70          | 2              | 3.6                |
| Hox58h 4  | 0.47          | 2              | 5.2                |
| Hox58h 5  | 0.95          | 2              | 2.1                |
| Hox72h 1  | 0.64          | 2              | 3.1                |
| Hox72h 2  | 1.08          | 2              | 1.9                |
| Hox72h 3  | 0.60          | 2              | 2.8                |
| Hox72h 4  | 0.67          | 2              | 3.0                |
| Hox72h 5  | 1.25          | 2              | 1.6                |


Figure III. 2. BSA standard curve ( $R^2=0.9977>0.95$ ) for study of effect of cobalt and nifedipine in TH expression.

Table III. 2: Determination of protein concentrations of homogenates for study of effect of cobalt in TH expression.  $Co^{2+}C_0$  (1-5) are samples of MAH cells exposed to 20% O<sub>2</sub> as controls.  $Co^{2+}Nox10h$ , 34h, 72h (1-5) represent the samples of MAH cells treated with 100µM cobalt and exposed to 20% O<sub>2</sub> simultaneously for 10, 34, 72 hours.  $Co^{2+}Hox10h$ , 34h, 72h (1-5) represent the samples of MAH cells treated with 100µM cobalt exposed to 5% O<sub>2</sub> simultaneously for 10, 34, 72 hours, respectively. \* indicates that the amount of each sample is for each well of a gel.

|                                   |               | * Amount of    |                    |
|-----------------------------------|---------------|----------------|--------------------|
| Sample of                         | Protein Conc. | protein needed | * Amount of sample |
|                                   |               |                |                    |
| MAH cells                         | (mg/mi)       | (µg)           | <u>(µi)</u>        |
| Co <sup>2+</sup> C <sub>0</sub> 1 | 0.43          | 1.6            | 3.7                |
| Co <sup>2+</sup> C <sub>0</sub> 2 | 0.43          | 1.6            | 3.7                |
| Co <sup>2+</sup> C₀ 3             | 0.49          | 1.6            | 3.3                |
| Co <sup>2+</sup> C <sub>0</sub> 4 | 0.57          | 1.6            | 2.8                |
| Co <sup>2+</sup> C <sub>0</sub> 5 | 0.54          | 1.6            | 3.0                |
| Co <sup>2+</sup> Nox10h 1         | 0.37          | 1.6            | 4.3                |
| Co <sup>2+</sup> Nox10h 2         | 0.45          | 1.6            | 3.6                |
| Co <sup>2+</sup> Nox10h 3         | 0.39          | 1.6            | 4.1                |
| Co <sup>2+</sup> Nox10h 4         | 0.46          | 1.6            | 3.5                |
| Co <sup>2+</sup> Nox10h 5         | 0.48          | 1.6            | 3.4                |
| Co <sup>2+</sup> Nox34h 1         | 0.66          | 1.6            | 2.4                |
| Co <sup>2+</sup> Nox34h 2         | 0.68          | 1.6            | 2.4                |
| Co <sup>2+</sup> Nox34h 3         | 0.85          | 1.6            | 1.9                |
| Co <sup>2+</sup> Nox34h 4         | 0.67          | 1.6            | 2.4                |
| Co <sup>2+</sup> Nox34h 5         | 0.87          | 1.6            | 1.8                |
| Co <sup>2+</sup> Nox72h 1         | 0.19          | 1.6            | 8.6                |
| Co <sup>2+</sup> Nox72h 2         | 0.08          | 1.6            | 19.6               |
| Co <sup>2+</sup> Nox72h 3         | 0.89          | 1.6            | 1.8                |
| Co <sup>2+</sup> Nox72h 4         | 0.96          | 1.6            | 1.7                |
| Co <sup>2+</sup> Nox72h 5         | 0.79          | 1.6            | 2.0                |

Table III. 3 Determination of protein concentrations of homogenates from MAH cells treated with nifedipine. NifC<sub>0</sub> (1-5) are samples of MAH cells exposed to 20% O<sub>2</sub> as controls. NifNox10h, 72h (1-5) represent the samples of MAH cells treated with 5 $\mu$ M nifedipine and exposed to 20% O<sub>2</sub> simultaneously for 10, 72 hours. NifHox10h, 72h (1-5) represent the samples of MAH cells treated with 5 $\mu$ M nifedipine exposed to 5% O<sub>2</sub> simultaneously for 10, 72 hours, respectively. \* indicates that the amount of each sample is for each well of a gel.

.

|                     |               | * Amount of |                    |
|---------------------|---------------|-------------|--------------------|
|                     |               | protein     |                    |
| Sample of           | Protein Conc. | needed      | * Amount of sample |
|                     |               |             |                    |
| MAH cells           | (mg/ml)       | (µg)        | (µl)               |
| NifC <sub>0</sub> 1 | 0.47          | 2.8         | 6.0                |
| NifC <sub>0</sub> 2 | 0.37          | 2.8         | 7.5                |
| NifC <sub>0</sub> 3 | 0.45          | 2.8         | 6.2                |
| NifC <sub>0</sub> 4 | 0.35          | 2.8         | 8.0                |
| NifC <sub>0</sub> 5 | 0.55          | 2.8         | 5.1                |
| NifNox10h 1         | 0.63          | 2.8         | 4.5                |
| NifNox10h 2         | 0.59          | 2.8         | 4.8                |
| NifNox10h 3         | 0.62          | 2.8         | 4.5                |
| NifNox10h 4         | 0.53          | 2.8         | 5.3                |
| NifNox10h 5         | 0.64          | 2.8         | 4.4                |
| NifNox72h 1         | 2.36          | 2.8         | 1.2                |
| NifNox72h 2         | 2.22          | 2.8         | 1.3                |
| NifNox72h 3         | 2.13          | 2.8         | 1.3                |
| NifNox72h 4         | 2.33          | 2.8         | 1.2                |
| NifNox72h 5         | 2.13          | 2.8         | 1.3                |
| NifHox10h 1         | 0.44          | 2.8         | 6.4                |
| NifHox10h 2         | 0.53          | 2.8         | 5.3                |
| NifHox10h 3         | 0.56          | 2.8         | 5.0                |
| NifHox10h 4         | 0.48          | 2.8         | 5.8                |
| NifHox10h 5         | 0.56          | 2.8         | 5.0                |
| NifHox72h 1         | 1.47          | 2.8         | 1.9                |
| NifHox72h 2         | 1.47          | 2.8         | 1.9                |
| NifHox72h 3         | 1.35          | 2.8         | 2.1                |
| NifHox72h 4         | 1.51          | 2.8         | 1.9                |
| NifHox72h 5         | 1.56          | 2.8         | 1.8                |